

NICOLAUS CO UNIVERSITY IN TORUŃ Ludwik Rydygier NICOLAUS COPERNICUS Ludwik Rydygier Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz

Bydgoszcz 2023



Adam Kowalewski

Origination of the concept of targeted, anti-evolutionary cancer therapy and identification of potential molecular targets for such therapy against clear cell renal cell carcinoma

PhD dissertation in medical sciences

Promoter: Dariusz Grzanka, MD, PhD

Auxiliary promoter: Łukasz Szylberg, MD, PhD

Bydgoszcz 2023

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to Professor Dariusz Grzanka and Professor Łukasz Szylberg for guiding and supporting me over the years. You have set an example of excellence as a researcher, mentor, and a role model.

This endeavor would not have been possible without my workmates, especially the laboratory workers and technicians, who generously provided knowledge and expertise.

I am also thankful to my family, especially my parents and wife. Their belief in me has kept my spirits and motivation high during this process.

This research was supported by the grant POWR. 03.02.00-00-1019/16 from the National Centre for Research and Development.

Table of contents

1. Abstract5
2. Abbreviations7
3. Introduction.
3.1. Key cancer statistics and projections8
3.2. Kidney cancer and its exceptional resistance to systemic therapies
4. Aims of the doctoral thesis10
5. Publications included in the dissertation.
5.1. Targeting the deterministic evolutionary trajectories of clear cell renal cell carcinoma12
5.2. TRIP13 predicts poor prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma
5.3. Overexpression of KIF11 is a poor prognostic factor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma14
6. Overview of the publications included in the dissertation.
6.1. Origination of the concept of targeted, anti-evolutionary cancer therapy15
6.2. Identification of potential molecular targets for targeted, anti-evolutionary cancer therapy against clear cell renal cell carcinoma
6.2.1. Introduction16
6.2.2. Materials and methods19
6.2.3. Results21
6.2.4. Discussion22
6.2.5. Conclusions23
7. References25
8. Co-authors' statements

1. Abstract

In contrast to organismal evolution, human cancers are subjected to similar initial conditions and follow a limited range of possible evolutionary trajectories. Until now, the predictable patterns of how cancer progresses have not been utilized for therapeutic benefits.

Evolutionary trajectories of clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) have been recently described. I proposed strategies to take advantage of the evolving nature of these tumors for patients' benefit.

One of these strategies is to modulate tumor's genomic instability. In search for the best candidates for molecular targeting, I identified two proteins, TRIP13 and KIF11, and explored the relationships between their expressions and clinical course of ccRCC using the tissue microarrays (TMAs).

The TMAs contained specimens from 90 patients followed up for 7 years. All the tumor samples were evaluated for TRIP13 and KIF11 expression using immunohistochemistry and the H-score method. The overall survival (OS) was analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier method and log-rank statistics. Univariate and multivariate analyses were conducted using Cox proportional hazard models.

Cytoplasmic expressions of TRIP13 and KIF11 in ccRCC tissues were lower than those in adjacent controls (P < 0.05). I dichotomized the cytoplasmic expressions of these proteins to low and high expression using the tool Cutoff Finder. Both the elevated expressions of TRIP13 and KIF11 served as independent unfavorable prognostic indicators of survival in ccRCC (P < 0.05).

Elevated expressions of TRIP13 and KIF11 predict poor clinical outcome in ccRCC patients. Our results may serve as a starting point for translational research, in which the modulation of TRIP13 and KIF11 expressions could provide new therapeutic strategies for ccRCC.

1. Streszczenie

W przeciwieństwie do ewolucji organizmów, nowotwory podlegają podobnym początkowym warunkom i podążają ograniczonym zakresem możliwych trajektorii ewolucyjnych. Do tej pory przewidywalne wzorce rozwoju nowotworu nie były wykorzystywane do uzyskania korzyści terapeutycznych.

Niedawno opisano trajektorie ewolucyjne raka jasnokomórkowego nerki (ccRCC). Zaproponowałem strategie wykorzystania ewoluującego charakteru tych nowotworów z potencjalną korzyścią dla pacjentów.

Jedną z tych strategii jest modulowanie niestabilności genomowej guza. W poszukiwaniu najlepszych kandydatów do celowania molekularnego zidentyfikowałem dwa białka, TRIP13 i KIF11, i zbadałem zależności między ich ekspresją a przebiegiem klinicznym ccRCC przy użyciu mikromacierzy tkankowych (TMA).

TMA zawierały próbki od 90 pacjentów, których obserwowano przez 7 lat. Wszystkie próbki guza oceniłem pod kątem ekspresji TRIP13 i KIF11 przy użyciu immunohistochemii i metody H-score. Całkowite przeżycie (OS) zanalizowałem przy użyciu metody Kaplana-Meiera i statystyki log-rank. Analizy jednowymiarowe i wieloczynnikowe przeprowadziłem przy użyciu modeli proporcjonalnego hazardu Coxa.

Cytoplazmatyczne ekspresje białek TRIP13 i KIF11 w tkankach ccRCC były niższe niż w sąsiednich kontrolach (P <0,05). Podzieliliśmy cytoplazmatyczne ekspresje tych białek na niską i wysoką ekspresję za pomocą narzędzia Cutoff Finder. Zarówno podwyższone/a ekspresje/a TRIP13, jak i KIF11 służyły jako niezależne niekorzystne wskaźniki prognostyczne przeżycia w ccRCC (P <0,05).

Podwyższone ekspresje TRIP13 i KIF11 przewidują złe wyniki kliniczne u pacjentów z ccRCC. Nasze wyniki mogą służyć jako punkt wyjścia do badań translacyjnych, w których modulacja ekspresji TRIP13 i KIF11 może zapewnić nowe strategie terapeutyczne dla ccRCC.

6

2. Abbreviations.

ccRCC	clear cell renal cell carcinoma	
HR	homologous recombination	
ITH	intratumor heterogeneity	
NHEJ	non-homologous end joining	
DDR	DNA damage response	
PARP	poly(ADP)-ribose polymerase	
OS	overall survival	
SAC	spindle assembly checkpoint	
DSBs	double-strand breaks	
ТМА	tissue microarray	
wGll	weighted genome instability	
	index	
CIN	chromosomal instability	
HDACi	histone deacetylase inhibitor	

3. Introduction.

3.1. Key cancer statistics and projections.

In 2020, there were an estimated 19.3 million new cases of cancer and 10 million deaths from cancer worldwide. This accounted for 1 out of every 6 deaths. Breast cancer was the most commonly diagnosed cancer, with 2.3 million new cases, followed by lung, colorectal, prostate, and stomach cancers. Lung cancer was also the leading cause of cancer deaths, with 1.8 million deaths. The incidence of cancer was higher in transitioning countries compared to transitioned countries, but the mortality rate varied less. The global cancer burden is expected to increase by 47% by 2040, with a larger increase in transitioning countries due to demographic changes and increasing risk factors associated with globalization and economic growth [1].

3.2. *Kidney cancer and its exceptional resistance to systemic therapies.*

Kidney cancer is a prevalent form of cancer that is becoming more common. In 2022, it is estimated that 79,000 new cases and 13,920 deaths from kidney cancer will occur in the United States alone, and globally there will be over 400,000 new cases. It is among the 10 most common types of cancer for both men and women [2].

In only 10% of cases, kidney cancer presents with the typical symptoms of a mass on the flank, pain in the flank area and blood in the urine, which is known as the "classic triad" of symptoms [3]. Due to the kidney's ability to function even when part of it is damaged, it is usually not possible to detect kidney cancer early based on loss of function. This means that the cancer often goes unnoticed for a long time and is often not diagnosed until it has spread to other parts of the body. About one-third of patients are diagnosed with metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis. Even when the tumor is found early and removed surgically, there is still a significant chance (40%) of the cancer returning [4, 5].

The most well-researched type of kidney cancer is clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC), which starts in the lining of the proximal convoluted tubule and makes up 70% of all kidney cancer cases [6].

In the past two decades, there have been significant advances in the treatment of unresectable kidney cancer, including the development and improvement of targeted and immunotherapies that are now considered the standard of care. However, despite the relatively high response rates to these treatments, only a small percentage (up to 9%) of patients with poor- or intermediate-risk cancer may achieve a complete response, according to the results of a subgroup analysis of the CheckMate 214 clinical trial [7]. Most patients with metastatic ccRCC ultimately succumb to cancer progression within 1.5 years [8].

4. Aims of the doctoral thesis.

I. To propose a novel approach to cancer therapy on the example of kidney cancer.

II. To identify novel therapeutic targets for kidney cancer therapy.

5. Publications included in the dissertation.

5.1. Targeting the deterministic evolutionary trajectories of clear cell renal cell carcinoma.

Authors: Adam Kowalewski, Marek Zdrenka, Dariusz Grzanka and Łukasz Szylberg

Journal: Cancers

Impact factor: 6.639

MNiSW points: 140

Published: 9 November 2020



Review

Targeting the Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma

Adam Kowalewski^{1,*}, Marek Zdrenka², Dariusz Grzanka¹ and Łukasz Szylberg^{1,2}

- ¹ Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland; d_grzanka@cm.umk.pl (D.G.); l.szylberg@cm.umk.pl (Ł.S.)
- ² Department of Tumor Pathology and Pathomorphology, Oncology Centre-Prof. Franciszek Łukaszczyk Memorial Hospital, 85-796 Bydgoszcz, Poland; marek.zdrenka@cm.umk.pl
- * Correspondence: kowalewskiresearch@gmail.com or 264643@stud.umk.pl

Received: 30 August 2020; Accepted: 7 November 2020; Published: 9 November 2020



MDP

Simple Summary: In contrast to organismal evolution, human cancers are subjected to similar initial conditions and follow a limited range of possible evolutionary trajectories. Therefore, the repetitive nature of cancer evolution may prove to be its greatest weakness. Evolutionary trajectories of clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) have been recently described. In this review, we will discuss the relevance of estimating the trajectory of ccRCC evolution as a readout for a response to therapy. Next, we will propose strategies to take advantage of the evolving nature of these tumors for patients' benefit.

Abstract: The emergence of clinical resistance to currently available systemic therapies forces us to rethink our approach to clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC). The ability to influence ccRCC evolution by inhibiting processes that propel it or manipulating its course may be an adequate strategy. There are seven deterministic evolutionary trajectories of ccRCC, which correlate with clinical phenotypes. We suspect that each trajectory has its own unique weaknesses that could be exploited. In this review, we have summarized recent advances in the treatment of ccRCC and demonstrated how to improve systemic therapies from the evolutionary perspective. Since there are only a few evolutionary trajectories in ccRCC, it appears feasible to use them as potential biomarkers for guiding intervention and surveillance. We believe that the presented patient stratification could help predict future steps of malignant progression, thereby informing optimal and personalized clinical decisions.

Keywords: clear cell renal cell carcinoma; ccRCC; RCC; kidney cancer; evolution; evolutionary trajectory; biomarker

1. Introduction

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) is the eighth most commonly diagnosed cancer in the United States, with an estimated incidence of 74,000 new cases in 2020 [1]. The classic triad of flank pain, flank mass, and hematuria occurs only in 10% of cases [2]. Due to the ability of the kidney for functional compensation when part of it is destroyed, early detection from loss of function is usually impossible. As a result, RCC remains clinically occult for most of its course, and around one-third of patients present with metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis. Those with localized tumors have up to 40% risk of recurrence following complete resection [3,4]. Remarkable advances over the last decade contributed to the development of targeted therapies and immunotherapies that today represent a standard for unresectable RCC. Despite relatively high response rates to these agents, the vast majority of patients eventually experience cancer progression. The emergence of clinical resistance to currently

available systemic therapies represents a significant challenge and forces us to rethink our approach to RCC.

The best-studied histological subtype is clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC), which is derived from the proximal convoluted tubule and accounts for approximately 70% of all cases [5]. A series of next-generation sequencing studies led to a better understanding of the genetic background of ccRCC [6–10]. The results of these studies uncovered a near-universal inactivation of the von Hippel-Lindau disease (*VHL*) tumor suppressor gene. Other frequent alterations involve histone-modifying genes, SWI/SNF complex, and PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway. Moreover, an integrated, genome-wide analysis of copy-number changes and gene expression profiles in ccRCC identified 7 chromosomal regions of recurrent arm level or focal amplifications (1q, 2q, 5q, 7q, 8q, 12p, and 20q) and 7 regions of losses (1p, 3p, 4q, 6q, 8p, 9p, and 14q) [8].

The evolutionary landscape in ccRCC is dominated by intratumor heterogeneity (ITH) at a genetic, transcriptomic, and functional level [9]. The exome sequencing performed on multiple, spatially separate ccRCC samples revealed that that two-thirds of the somatic mutations are not shared between all the primary tumor regions [10]. Hence, single-biopsy analysis is likely to miss the key genetic events or misclassify them as clonal. Apart from the direct impact on diagnostic procedures and biomarkers development, ITH has significantly hindered our understanding of ccRCC evolution.

In comparison to other malignancies, ccRCC is characterized by a high prevalence of somatic copy number alterations (SCNAs) and a low burden of somatic substitutions [6,8,11,12]. The integrative analysis of the genetic and clinical data led to the identification of certain alterations with prognostic value, such as mutually exclusive mutations of *BAP1* and *PBRM1* [13–15]. These studies, although conducted on large cohorts of patients, did not determine the prognostic values of genetic alterations according to whether they were clonal or subclonal. Huang et al. were among the first to demonstrate the possibility of genomic subtyping of ccRCC [13]. Recently, Turajlic and colleagues provided a comprehensive model of ccRCC evolution [14], which might lay the foundation for the development of precision clinical management.

Cancer cells continuously undergo adaptive changes, and insensitivity to drugs arises due to genetic and epigenetic alterations that offer a survival advantage. While there is a number of pathways and networks a cancer cell has at its disposal, targeting individual components is likely to prove inadequate [15]. Instead, the ability to influence cancer evolution itself by inhibiting processes that propel it or manipulating its course might potentially put an end to cancer as a major health concern.

In this review, we will discuss the relevance of estimating the trajectory of ccRCC evolution as a readout for a response to therapy. Next, we will propose strategies to take advantage of the evolving nature of these tumors for patients' benefit.

2. The Origin, Evolution, and Routes to Metastasis of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma

2.1. The Origin of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma

Loss of the short arm of chromosome 3 is a nearly universal driver of ccRCC [16]. It occurs in childhood or adolescence, predominantly through chromothripsis. The deleted region encompasses at least four tumor suppressor genes, including *VHL*, *PBRM1*, *BAP1*, and *SETD2*. This earliest event produces a pool of a few hundred cells, which after decades of modest clonal expansion, acquire the necessary additional genetic alterations [17]. Chromosomal copies of deleted suppressor genes are often affected afterward, with inactivation of the second allele of *VHL* being the most common (65–80% of patients) [7,8,10]. In some cases, there are different driver mutations on the trunk of the phylogenetic tree, which, in contrast to 3p loss and *VHL* inactivation, trigger a substantial expansion [11,18].

2.2. The Evolutionary Trajectories of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma

On the basis of mutational ordering, timing, and co-occurrence, ccRCCs are classified into seven distinct evolutionary subtypes, or four groups, which correlate with clinical phenotypes [17,19].

These groups are distinguished by four features—variations in chromosomal complexity, ITH, model of tumor evolution, and metastatic potential. The variations in chromosomal complexity are measured as the fraction of the genome affected by SCNAs and expressed as a weighted genome instability index (wGII). ITH is measured as the ratio of subclonal drivers to clonal drivers [20].

Group 1 consists of primary tumors with *VHL* alteration as the sole driver event. They evolve in a "linear" fashion and are characterized by low both wGII and ITH. This mode of evolution is associated with indolent growth and low metastatic potential. Group 2 includes tumors in which early *PBRM1* mutation and subsequent *SETD2* mutation or PI3K pathway mutation or acquisition of SCNAs result in a "branched" evolutionary pattern. These are heterogeneous neoplasms with oligometastatic potential and attenuated progression. Clonal acquisition of multiple driver mutations (*VHL* plus $\geq 2 BAP1$, *PBRM1*, *SETD2*, or *PTEN*) or the parallel *BAP1* mutation results in "punctuated" evolution. These tumors are characterized by high wGII but low ITH and belong to group 3. Punctuated evolution, driven mostly by high wGII, leads to rapid dissemination and is also observed among *VHL* wild-type tumors, which constitute the fourth group [14].

2.3. The Routes to Metastasis of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma

Metastasis competence is afforded by chromosome-level alterations that simultaneously affect the expression of hundreds of genes. These alterations provide a permissive genomic background for the selection of hallmark drivers of ccRCC metastasis and the loss of 9p and 14q [20]. Linear and branched evolution modes are analogous to Darwin's phyletic gradualism. On the other hand, punctuated evolution, as in punctuated equilibrium, is associated with rapid speciation events and considerable evolutionary changes. Thus, the acquisition of metastatic competence is far more likely through punctuated evolution.

3. Current Systemic Therapies for Renal Cell Carcinoma

Immunotherapy and/or tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) constitute the standard of care for relapse or stage IV RCC. Appropriate clinical management depends on disease activity, according to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) Guidelines for Kidney Cancer. In favorable-risk patients, first-line treatments include a combination of axitinib plus pembrolizumab or monotherapy with pazopanib or sunitinib. For patients with poor- and intermediate-risk disease, the preferred regimen is ipilimumab with nivolumab or axitinib with pembrolizumab. Moreover, cabozantinib may be considered in a first-line setting, especially in cases with osseous metastatic RCC. Because of the significant toxicity of systemic therapies, a subset of asymptomatic patients with metastatic RCC may benefit from active surveillance.

A major advantage of immunotherapy is its potential to produce complete and durable responses in a subset of patients with advanced cancer, even after discontinuation of the drug. Indeed, despite the non-curative nature of systemic therapy in RCC, up to 9% of poor- and intermediate-risk patients may achieve a complete response, according to the results of subgroup analysis of CheckMate 214 clinical trial [18]. This rate could be further increased by introducing novel treatment modalities as well as better patient selection algorithms.

4. Strategies to Overcome the Evolution of Renal Cell Carcinoma

In the face of selective pressures, subpopulations of tumor cells with adaptive phenotypes emerge at the expense of others. The ability to predict the alterations in ITH along the temporal axis seems invaluable for the development of personalized therapy. In this section, we will provide a summary of recent strategies against RCC which, when contextualized within an evolutionary framework, could be significantly more effective.

4.1. Cytoreductive Nephrectomy

In select patients with metastatic RCC, primary nephrectomy is performed with cytoreductive intent. Apart from the alleviation of symptoms associated with larger masses, such intervention eliminates the reservoir of phenotypic tumor-cell diversity, minimizing the risk of further metastatic seeding from an evolving primary tumor [19]. While cytoreductive nephrectomy (CN) is associated with a significant risk of perioperative mortality (0–13%) and major complications (3–36%) [21], there is a great need to avoid unnecessary surgery in nonresponders.

Heng et al. examined the role of CN in metastatic RCC patients receiving targeted therapies in a retrospective study of data from the International Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma Database Consortium (IMDC). They found that patients with estimated overall survival (OS) of <12 months and those exhibiting fewer than 4 IMDC prognostic factors are not likely to benefit from CN [22]. From that time, several other observational studies demonstrated analogous results [23]. This data, however, must be treated with caution given the significant risk of selection bias inherent to their study designs, which potentially leads to misclassification of patients [24].

The role of CN continues to change amid a rapidly increasing armamentarium of systemic therapies. In the modern immuno-oncology era, CN is still a viable option, but careful patient selection is of paramount importance. The ongoing clinical trials are evaluating the use of deferred CN in patients receiving nivolumab and ipilimumab alone or alongside radiotherapy (NCT03977571, NCT04090710). These studies may help determine the most appropriate indications for CN.

4.2. Adaptive Therapy

In the case of disseminated cancer with no significant probability of cure, patient survival can be maximized if adaptive therapy is introduced. This strategy originates from mathematical models and aims at maintaining a stable tumor burden [25]. When drugs are administered sparingly and in a temporally dynamic fashion, a significant population of treatment-sensitive cells survives. These, due to their competitive advantage, suppress the proliferation of treatment-resistant populations under normal tumor conditions.

Adaptive therapy may play a role in metastatic RCC. Findings from a prospective phase II trial demonstrate active surveillance to be a viable initial strategy in patients with few adverse prognostic features [26]. Results from the SURTIME study, a randomized clinical trial comparing immediate vs deferred CN, revealed that deferred CN is a valid option for patients with the intermediate-risk disease and with general clinical conditions at baseline amenable to undergo surgery [27]. "Treatment-for-stability" may also be represented by an alternative schedule of sunitinib. The standard dosing schedule of sunitinib is 50 mg daily for 4 weeks, followed by 2 weeks off drug (schedule 4/2). However, according to a recent meta-analysis, the administration of sunitinib for 2 weeks followed by 1 week off (schedule 2/1) exhibited lower toxicity and lower rates of treatment discontinuation while maintaining comparable responses [28].

The full potential of adaptive therapy is yet to be witnessed. Frequency-dependent game-theoretic models of tumor evolution have enabled the introduction of three concepts to consider in the pursuit of designing a multi-drug adaptive approach [29]. These ideas focus on entrapping tumor evolution in periodic loops, limiting the evolutionary "absorbing region" reachable by the tumor and determining the optimal timing of drug administration. Each may contribute to the generation of new treatment schedules and comparisons to standards.

4.3. Targeting Trunk Mutations

The ability to target alteration present in all tumor cells is expected to diminish the odds of the escape of clonal branches. As previously described, inactivation of *VHL* constitutes the trunk event in ccRCC development while most of the other driver aberrations are subclonal. Apart from large chromosomal aberrations as in the cytogenetic 3p abnormalities, *VHL* inactivation may be

caused by small deletions affecting the locus, or promoter methylation and epigenetic silencing [30]. pVHL, a *VHL* gene product, is essential in the cell's normal response to ischemic stress. Decreased expression of *VHL* results in the accumulation of hypoxia-inducible factor alpha (HIF α). Among the three known HIF α subunits, HIF2 α is thought to be the core ccRCC driver since it upregulates a series of hypoxia-responsive genes [31–33]. The net effect is the activation of various kinase-dependent signaling pathways, such as MAPK/ERK and PI3K/AKT/mTOR [34]. While the most significant targets of *VHL* loss are the production of VEGF and PDGF, HIF2 α has been regarded as undruggable for years [35,36]. Eventually, a structure-based design approach led to the identification of PT2385, a first-in-class HIF2 α antagonist [37]. In a phase I dose-escalation clinical trial, PT2385 was found to be well-tolerated and demonstrated clinical activity in extensively pretreated ccRCC patients [38]. Its efficacy and safety are currently being evaluated in a phase II trial (NCT03108066). The primary objective of this trial is to assess the overall response rate in patients with VHL disease-associated ccRCC.

According to the mathematical model presented by Bozic et al., in the case of metastatic disease, monotherapy with a targeted agent offers no hope for recovery. Instead, combinations of two or more agents given simultaneously offer a small chance of cure, especially in the absence of cross-resistance mutations [39].

It is worth noting that the aforementioned drugs are directed against downstream effectors of *VHL*, hence, from an evolutionary point of view, there is a potential to better define the molecular target. Nicholson et al. found that inhibiting the cyclin-dependent kinases CDK4 and CDK6 impaired tumor growth in *VHL*-deficient ccRCC regardless of HIF2 α dependency [40]. Abemaciclib, a CDK4/6 and PIM1 kinase inhibitor is currently being tested in phase I trial in combination with sunitinib in metastatic RCC (NCT03905889). Another compound that could represent a paradigm shift in targeted treatment is STF-62247. It has been shown to induce potent cytotoxic effects in *VHL*-deficient ccRCC cells, compared to their *VHL* wild-type counterparts [41]. The STF-62247-stimulated synthetic lethality occurs in a HIF-independent manner through autophagy; however, the mechanistic links between *VHL* and autophagy are incompletely understood [42].

4.4. Targeting Cancer Immune Evasion

Tumor cells interact with the immune system in a process called immunoediting, which consists of three phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape [43]. Most of the tumor cells are destroyed in the first phase. Cells that cannot be eliminated enter the equilibrium in which they are selected through immune cell exhaustion and resistance to immune detection [44]. It is the longest of the three phases and, in ccRCC, manifests as a modest clonal expansion right after the 3p loss. The evolutionary pressure of immune predation may eventually lead to the development of mechanisms to escape immune responses. From that moment, malignant growth proceeds unrestrained. The ultimate goal of immunotherapy is to permanently reverse immune evasion strategies.

Recent phase III clinical trials led to the use of three immunotherapy-based combinations, including pembrolizumab, ipilimumab, and nivolumab, as a front-line for ccRCC [45]. These agents are highly effective, with a few patients achieving a durable complete response. The ongoing phase III clinical trials are currently testing different combinations of a checkpoint inhibitor plus a tyrosine kinase inhibitor (NCT02811861, NCT03937219) or IL-2 derivate (NCT03729245). Earlier phase studies are evaluating the potential of combining PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors and antibodies directed against LAG-3 (NCT02996110, NCT03849469), TIM-3 (NCT02608268), or ICOS (NCT03693612, NCT03829501). An alternative approach is represented by the use of different cytokines (NCT02799095, NCT03063762) or personalized cancer vaccines (NCT03633110, NCT02950766).

ITH plays an essential role in shaping antitumor immune responses [43,44]. The highly heterogeneous tumors presumably escape immune surveillance because the reactive neoantigens undergo 'dilution' within the tumor, thereby leading to weaker antitumor immunity.

How do specific genomic features of ccRCC influence the clinical benefit from immunotherapy is under investigation. While tumor mutational burden (TMB) potentially increases ITH [46], a small

study on 25 metastatic ccRCCs failed to confirm the association between TMB and response to immunotherapeutics [47]. Miao and colleagues found that truncating mutations in *PBRM1* were associated with significantly extended progression-free survival (PFS) and OS of patients with metastatic ccRCC treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors [48]. The underlying mechanism is probably related to increased sensitivity to T-cell-mediated cytotoxicity of *PBRM1*-mutant tumor cells [49]. This association was confirmed in an independent ccRCC cohort by a post hoc analysis of the CheckMate 025 randomized phase III study [50]. On the other hand, the exploratory analyses from JAVELIN Renal 101 and CheckMate 214 do not support this hypothesis [51,52]. The discrepant results are presumably due to the different populations studied, such as treatment-naïve versus VEGF-refractory [53].

4.5. Modulating Genomic Instability

Genomic instability of cancer cells drives genetic diversity required for the natural selection of adaptive traits, but there is a threshold beyond which cells cannot replicate successfully [54]. Hence, it is tempting to alter (increase or decrease) the frequency of mutations within the cancer genome.

RCC is characterized by a moderate level of genomic instability and the absence of mutations in canonical DNA damage response (DDR) genes, such as *RAD9*, *BRCA1*, or *TP53* [6,49]. As a result, RCC patients are commonly unresponsive to DNA-damaging therapies, such as chemo- or radiotherapy. For that reason, reducing genetic instability could be a more suitable approach. It can be achieved, among others, by constitutive activation of the transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) axis. TGF- β has been shown to inhibit DNA double-strand breaks (DSB) repair mechanisms to heighten the genetic diversity and adaptability of cancer cells [55]. In ccRCC cell cultures, TGF- β enhances proliferative capacity and promotes metastatic growth [56]. Early phase Ib clinical trial (NCT00356460) investigated the use of a monoclonal antibody against TGF- β fresolimumab in RCC patients and showed preliminary evidence of antitumor activity [57].

On the contrary, particular ccRCC driver genes do influence DDR and there is preclinical evidence to support the poly(ADP)-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibition in *VHL*- or *BAP1*-mutated ccRCC [54,58,59]. Moreover, cells harboring *SETD2* mutation undergo synthetic lethal interaction with WEE1 blockade due to the depletion of nucleotide pools [60]. AZD1775, an experimental inhibitor of WEE1, is currently being evaluated for patients with *SETD2*-deficient tumors, including RCC (NCT03284385).

4.6. Evolutionary Herding

The tumor is less likely to be resistant to multiple drugs simultaneously, hence the combination therapy allows for the extermination of resistant cells before the emergence of further adaptive mechanisms. However, the use of two or more drugs simultaneously is strictly limited by the toxicity to normal tissues.

While checkpoint inhibitor and the antiangiogenic combination is a standard of care for metastatic ccRCC, there is a significant overlap in the toxicity profile of these drugs, with diarrhea, hypertension, and hepatotoxicity being among the most commonly presented [55,61]. These and other adverse effects may all contribute to treatment discontinuation or dose reduction. Moreover, there is frequently a need for additional medications, such as loperamide secondary to axitinib or high-dose corticosteroids for autoimmune colitis and hepatitis in case of checkpoint inhibitors. Then, drug–drug interactions become even harder to predict. Despite the toxicity issue, in most cases, cancer cells eventually develop multidrug resistance.

Any biological adaptation often involves trade-offs. In cancers, the cost of one resistance mechanism is likely to induce a population to be sensitive to an alternative therapy [62]. Evolutionary herding exploits this weakness by administering a combination of drugs in a particular order which enables to control the tumor cell population. When a second drug is administered, the clonal structure

of the population is different from the start, and this may lead to enhanced sensitivity, or even complete tumor regression [63].

Since evolutionary herding alters the cellular composition of the tumor microenvironment, collateral drug sensitivity is likely to be persistent. Furthermore, this strategy is hardly influenced by stochastic perturbations and cell plasticity [64]. Acar et al. recently designed an experimental approach, in which evolution can be tightly controlled, monitored, and altered using drugs. It allows estimating evolutionary trade-offs and evaluating the effectiveness of patient-specific evolutionary herding strategies [65]. The suitability of evolutionary herding in RCC has not been tested yet.

5. Therapeutic Implications

As previously described, seven evolutionary trajectories can be distributed into four groups depending on the tumor's genomic characteristics, evolution mode, and clinical course. We suspect that each group has its own unique weaknesses that could be exploited. In Figure 1, we demonstrate the predicted effectiveness of evolution-targeted strategies against particular evolutionary trajectories of ccRCC.



Figure 1. Predicted effectiveness of evolution-targeted strategies against particular evolutionary trajectories of clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC). Seven deterministic evolutionary trajectories are classified into four groups in terms of tumor's genomic characteristics, evolution mode, and clinical course. Loss of 9p or 14q represents the acquisition of metastatic competence. There are conflicting results regarding *PBRM1* mutation as a predictive biomarker of response to immunotherapy. The figure is based on assumptions about tumor biology and therapeutic options. ccRCC, clear cell renal cell carcinoma; wGII, weighted genome integrity index; ITH, intratumor heterogeneity.

While the benefit of upfront CN strictly depends on life expectancy, this procedure should be considered especially for Group 1 and, to a lesser extent, Group 2. Similarly, adaptive therapy that aims to enforce a stable tumor burden is expected to be highly effective against indolent cancers. Tumors from Group 1, in which *VHL* mutation is the sole driver event, are the best candidates for targeting trunk mutations. In Group 2, there is a limited number of trunk mutations, and this approach is still reasonable. As a general rule, ITH diminishes immune responses but tumors harboring *PBRM1* mutations (Group 2) could be highly vulnerable to immunotherapeutic agents. The predictive value of *PBRM1* mutation, however, is under debate and requires further investigation. Finally, decreased wGII is an indicator of a favorable response to immunotherapy, supporting its use in Group 1. In Figure 2, we illustrate how modulating genomic instability may affect ccRCC fitness. We suggest decreasing genomic instability before the loss of 9p or 14q, which represents the acquisition of metastatic

competence. This approach is particularly attractive in Group 1, characterized by low wGII. In contrast, Groups 3 and 4, due to high wGII and a punctuated evolution pattern, are expected to respond to increasing genomic instability. Modulating genomic instability in Group 2 could be unsuitable because of high wGII and branched mode of evolution. Evolutionary herding aims to decrease ITH with each subsequent therapy. Hence, it should be considered in Groups 1 and 3. This strategy may also be adequate in Group 2 due to its indolent nature in comparison to Group 4.



Genomic instability

Figure 2. Modulating genomic instability to reduce ccRCC fitness. ccRCC fitness (vertical axis) is plotted against genomic instability (horizontal axis). There is an optimum range of genomic instability, in which ccRCC evolves. 9p or 14q loss represents the acquisition of metastatic competence and is a point of no return. Before this point is reached, decreasing genomic instability slows down cancer evolution. Once 9p or 14q is lost, increasing genome instability triggers extensive DNA damage and cell death.

6. Future Directions

Sequencing data obtained from spatial biopsies enable one to infer the phylogenetic tree structure and, in ccRCC, estimate the evolution trajectory. As a general rule, trunk alterations are found in all tumor cells and represent an ancestral event, while other modifications constitute the branches. The more regions sampled, the more branches will be found. In low-ITH cases, four biopsies would reflect the subclonal alteration with 75% accuracy. The gain in driver detection per additional sampling declines after eight, which is usually still not enough in cases with *PBRM1* mutation [14]. While molecular profiling of multiple specimens is not practical in the setting of clinical practice, the analysis of circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA) obtained from liquid biopsy represents a feasible alternative. Analysis of ctDNA enables identification of both clonal and subclonal tumor-specific mutations with high sensitivity and specificity, with detection rates comparable with those of traditional biopsies [61–66]. Furthermore, ctDNA has a relatively short half-life (approximately 2 h), allowing for the evaluation of tumor changes in real-time [67]. Finally, as minimally invasive, liquid biopsy eliminates the morbidity associated with the serial sampling of tumors. While qualitative and quantitative analyses of ctDNA have been extensively performed in RCC patients [68], liquid biopsy has not yet been used to capture RCC evolutionary trajectories.

The discovery of alternative evolutionary trajectories of RCC will provide a better insight into the underlying mechanisms of drug resistance. Some of these mechanisms may be closely related to geographic and environmental factors since patients from different regions have different genetic backgrounds and are exposed to different carcinogens. Huang et al. identified mutational signatures and SCNAs specific to Chinese or Japanese ccRCC patients [13]. In the first group, the alterations could be due to exposure to aristolochic acid, a common ingredient in many Chinese herbs [69]. The cause of unique genetic alterations in the Japanese cohort remains unexplained.

Novel techniques to perform an in-depth analysis of datasets, as well as larger-scale studies, will greatly expand our knowledge on the development of RCC. Recently, an original computational method, CONETT (CONserved Evolutionary Trajectories in Tumors), enabled the detection of three additional directions of evolution among ccRCCs [70]. Two of them terminate with a sequence alteration in gene *KDM5C* and one in *TSC1*. The clinical significance of these findings is yet to be determined.

Identification of hidden evolutionary patterns is made possible by artificial intelligence (AI). Caravagna and colleagues devised a machine-learning method called repeated evolution in cancer (REVOLVER), which allows to overcome the stochastic effects of cancer evolution and information noise [71]. This technique uses transfer learning (TL) to achieve reproducible disease prognosis based on next-generation sequencing (NGS) count data [70–73]. As a result, it is possible to classify patients on the basis of how their tumor evolved, with implications for the anticipation of disease progression.

According to the NCCN Guidelines for Kidney Cancer, molecular profiling does not influence decision-making. The ongoing phase 2 clinical trials, A-PREDICT (NCT01693822) and ADAPTeR (NCT02446860), incorporate a multiregional sampling of metastatic RCC prior to and during therapy to evaluate biomarkers of treatment response. Whether evolutionary trajectories could reflect the effectiveness of a particular anti-RCC strategy, remains to be elucidated.

7. Conclusions

Many diseases are intimately tied to our evolutionary and genetic heritage. With our better understanding of these conditions, we gradually acquire the evolutionary perspective, which turns out necessary for both prevention and treatment [74,75]. In contrast to organismal evolution, human cancers are subjected to similar initial conditions and follow a limited range of possible evolutionary trajectories. Therefore, the repetitive nature of cancer evolution may prove to be its greatest weakness.

Genomic characterization is currently paving the way for clinical decision-making in RCC. The problem of exceptional ITH could be minimized by multiregion biopsy or liquid biopsy. These tools not only provide insights into cancer genetic architecture but also allow the measurement of clonal evolution. Recent studies resolved the evolutionary features and subtypes underpinning the diverse clinical phenotypes of ccRCC. In this review, we have summarized recent advances in the treatment of ccRCC and demonstrated how each strategy could be improved from the evolutionary perspective. Since there are only a few deterministic evolutionary trajectories in ccRCC, it appears feasible to use them as potential biomarkers for guiding intervention and surveillance. We believe that the presented patient stratification could help predict future steps of malignant progression, thereby informing optimal and personalized clinical decisions.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, A.K., M.Z., D.G., and Ł.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Ferlay, J.; Soerjomataram, I.; Dikshit, R.; Eser, S.; Mathers, C.; Rebelo, M.; Parkin, D.M.; Forman, D.; Bray, F. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: Sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int. J. Cancer* 2015, *136*, E359–E386. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. Cohen, H.T.; McGovern, F.J. Renal-cell carcinoma. N. Engl. J. Med. 2005, 353, 2477–2490. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lam, J.S.; Leppert, J.T.; Belldegrun, A.S.; Figlin, R.A. Novel approaches in the therapy of metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *World J. Urol.* 2005, 23, 202–212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 4. Rajandram, R.; Bennett, N.C.; Morais, C.; Johnson, D.W.; Gobe, G.C. Renal cell carcinoma: Resistance to therapy, role of apoptosis, and the prognostic and therapeutic target potential of TRAF proteins. *Med. Hypotheses* **2012**, *78*, 330–336. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Frew, I.J.; Moch, H. A Clearer View of the Molecular Complexity of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis.* **2015**, *10*, 263–289. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Creighton, C.J.; Morgan, M.; Gunaratne, P.H.; Wheeler, D.A.; Gibbs, R.A.; Robertson, G.; Chu, A.; Beroukhim, R.; Cibulskis, K.; Signoretti, S.; et al. Comprehensive molecular characterization of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Nature* **2013**, *499*, 43–49. [CrossRef]
- Varela, I.; Tarpey, P.; Raine, K.; Huang, D.; Ong, C.K.; Stephens, P.; Davies, H.; Jones, D.; Lin, M.-L.; Teague, J.; et al. Exome sequencing identifies frequent mutation of the SWI/SNF complex gene PBRM1 in renal carcinoma. *Nature* 2011, 469, 539–542. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Beroukhim, R.; Brunet, J.P.; Di Napoli, A.; Mertz, K.D.; Seeley, A.; Pires, M.M.; Linhart, D.; Worrell, R.A.; Moch, H.; Rubin, M.A.; et al. Patterns of gene expression and copy-number alterations in von-Hippel Lindau disease-associated and sporadic clear cell carcinoma of the kidney. *Cancer Res.* **2009**, *69*, 4674–4681. [CrossRef]
- 9. Soultati, A.; Stares, M.; Swanton, C.; Larkin, J.; Turajlic, S. How should clinicians address intratumour heterogeneity in clear cell renal cell carcinoma? *Curr. Opin. Urol.* **2015**, *25*, 358–366. [CrossRef]
- Gerlinger, M.; Rowan, A.J.; Horswell, S.; Math, M.; Larkin, J.; Endesfelder, D.; Gronroos, E.; Martinez, P.; Matthews, N.; Stewart, A.; et al. Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2012, *366*, 883–892. [CrossRef]
- 11. Arai, E.; Sakamoto, H.; Ichikawa, H.; Totsuka, H.; Chiku, S.; Gotoh, M.; Mori, T.; Nakatani, T.; Ohnami, S.; Nakagawa, T.; et al. Multilayer-omics analysis of renal cell carcinoma, including the whole exome, methylome and transcriptome. *Int. J. Cancer* **2014**, *135*, 1330–1342. [CrossRef]
- 12. Gulati, S.; Martinez, P.; Joshi, T.; Birkbak, N.J.; Santos, C.R.; Rowan, A.J.; Pickering, L.; Gore, M.; Larkin, J.; Szallasi, Z.; et al. Systematic evaluation of the prognostic impact and intratumour heterogeneity of clear cell renal cell carcinoma biomarkers. *Eur. Urol.* **2014**, *66*, 936–948. [CrossRef]
- 13. Huang, Y.; Wang, J.; Jia, P.; Li, X.; Pei, G.; Wang, C.; Fang, X.; Zhao, Z.; Cai, Z.; Yi, X.; et al. Clonal architectures predict clinical outcome in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 1–10. [CrossRef]
- 14. Turajlic, S.; Xu, H.; Litchfield, K.; Rowan, A.; Horswell, S.; Chambers, T.; O'Brien, T.; Lopez, J.I.; Watkins, T.B.K.; Nicol, D.; et al. Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories Influence Primary Tumor Growth: TRACERx Renal. *Cell* **2018**, *173*, 595.e11–610.e11. [CrossRef]
- 15. Hutchinson, L. Predicting cancer's next move. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 2014, 11, 61–62. [CrossRef]
- Beroukhim, R.; Mermel, C.H.; Porter, D.; Wei, G.; Raychaudhuri, S.; Donovan, J.; Barretina, J.; Boehm, J.S.; Dobson, J.; Urashima, M.; et al. The landscape of somatic copy-number alteration across human cancers. *Nature* 2010, 463, 899–905. [CrossRef]
- 17. Mitchell, T.J.; Turajlic, S.; Rowan, A.; Nicol, D.; Farmery, J.H.R.; O'Brien, T.; Martincorena, I.; Tarpey, P.; Angelopoulos, N.; Yates, L.R.; et al. Timing the Landmark Events in the Evolution of Clear Cell Renal Cell Cancer: TRACERx Renal. *Cell* **2018**, *173*, 611.e17–623.e17. [CrossRef]
- Motzer, R.J.; Tannir, N.M.; McDermott, D.F.; Arén Frontera, O.; Melichar, B.; Choueiri, T.K.; Plimack, E.R.; Barthélémy, P.; Porta, C.; George, S.; et al. Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab versus Sunitinib in Advanced Renal-Cell Carcinoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2018, *378*, 1277–1290. [CrossRef]
- Flanigan, R.C.; Mickisch, G.; Sylvester, R.; Tangen, C.; van Poppel, H.; Crawford, E.D. Cytoreductive Nephrectomy in Patients With Metastatic Renal Cancer: A Combined Analysis. *J. Urol.* 2004, *171*, 1071–1076. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 20. Turajlic, S.; Xu, H.; Litchfield, K.; Rowan, A.; Chambers, T.; Lopez, J.I.; Nicol, D.; O'Brien, T.; Larkin, J.; Horswell, S.; et al. Tracking Cancer Evolution Reveals Constrained Routes to Metastases: TRACERx Renal. *Cell* **2018**, *173*, 581–594.e12. [CrossRef]
- Larcher, A.; Wallis, C.J.D.; Bex, A.; Blute, M.L.; Ficarra, V.; Mejean, A.; Karam, J.A.; Van Poppel, H.; Pal, S.K. Individualised Indications for Cytoreductive Nephrectomy: Which Criteria Define the Optimal Candidates? *Eur. Urol. Oncol.* 2019, *2*, 365–378. [CrossRef]
- 22. Heng, D.Y.C.; Wells, J.C.; Rini, B.I.; Beuselinck, B.; Lee, J.L.; Knox, J.J.; Bjarnason, G.A.; Pal, S.K.; Kollmannsberger, C.K.; Yuasa, T.; et al. Cytoreductive nephrectomy in patients with synchronous metastases from renal cell carcinoma: Results from the International Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma Database Consortium. *Eur. Urol.* **2014**, *66*, 704–710. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 23. Graham, J.; Bhindi, B.; Heng, D.Y.C. The evolving role of cytoreductive nephrectomy in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Curr. Opin. Urol.* **2019**, *29*, 507–512. [CrossRef]
- 24. Laguna, M.P. Re: Cytoreductive nephrectomy in patients with synchronous metastases from renal cell carcinoma: Results from the international metastatic renal cell carcinoma database consortium: Editorial comment. *J. Urol.* **2015**, *193*, 1514–1515. [CrossRef]
- 25. Gatenby, R.A.; Silva, A.S.; Gillies, R.J.; Frieden, B.R. Adaptive therapy. *Cancer Res.* 2009, 69, 4894–4903. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rini, B.I.; Dorff, T.B.; Elson, P.; Rodriguez, C.S.; Shepard, D.; Wood, L.; Humbert, J.; Pyle, L.; Wong, Y.N.; Finke, J.H.; et al. Active surveillance in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma: A prospective, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2016, *17*, 1317–1324. [CrossRef]
- 27. Bex, A.; Mulders, P.; Jewett, M.; Wagstaff, J.; Van Thienen, J.V.; Blank, C.U.; Van Velthoven, R.; Del Pilar Laguna, M.; Wood, L.; Van Melick, H.H.E.; et al. Comparison of Immediate vs Deferred Cytoreductive Nephrectomy in Patients with Synchronous Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma Receiving Sunitinib: The SURTIME Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Oncol.* **2019**, *5*, 164–170. [CrossRef]
- Sun, Y.; Li, J.; Yang, X.; Zhang, G.; Fan, X. The Alternative 2/1 Schedule of Sunitinib is Superior to the Traditional 4/2 Schedule in Patients With Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma: A Meta-analysis. *Clin. Genitourin. Cancer* 2019, 17, e847–e859. [CrossRef]
- 29. West, J.; You, L.; Zhang, J.; Gatenby, R.A.; Brown, J.S.; Newton, P.K.; Anderson, A.R.A. Towards multidrug adaptive therapy. *Cancer Res.* **2020**, *80*, 1578–1589. [CrossRef]
- 30. Rathmell, W.K.; Chen, S. VHL inactivation in renal cell carcinoma: Implications for diagnosis, prognosis and treatment. *Expert Rev. Anticancer Ther.* **2008**, *8*, 63–73. [CrossRef]
- Raval, R.R.; Lau, K.W.; Tran, M.G.B.; Sowter, H.M.; Mandriota, S.J.; Li, J.-L.; Pugh, C.W.; Maxwell, P.H.; Harris, A.L.; Ratcliffe, P.J. Contrasting Properties of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 (HIF-1) and HIF-2 in von Hippel-Lindau-Associated Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2005, 25, 5675–5686. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Gordan, J.D.; Bertout, J.A.; Hu, C.J.; Diehl, J.A.; Simon, M.C. HIF-2α Promotes Hypoxic Cell Proliferation by Enhancing c-Myc Transcriptional Activity. *Cancer Cell* **2007**, *11*, 335–347. [CrossRef]
- 33. Shen, C.; Kaelin, W.G. The VHL/HIF axis in clear cell renal carcinoma. Semin. Cancer Biol. 2013, 23, 18–25. [CrossRef]
- 34. Sakashita, N.; Takeya, M.; Kishida, T.; Stackhouse, T.M.; Zbar, B.; Takahashi, K. Expression of von Hippel-Lindau protein in normal and pathological human tissues. *Histochem. J.* **1999**, *31*, 133–144. [CrossRef]
- 35. Hofmann, F.; Marconi, L.S.O.; Stewart, F.; Lam, T.B.L.; Bex, A.; Canfield, S.E.; Ljungberg, B. Targeted therapy for metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* **2017**, 2017. [CrossRef]
- 36. Koehler, A.N. A complex task? Direct modulation of transcription factors with small molecules. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **2010**, *14*, 331–340. [CrossRef]
- Wallace, E.M.; Rizzi, J.P.; Han, G.; Wehn, P.M.; Cao, Z.; Du, X.; Cheng, T.; Czerwinski, R.M.; Dixon, D.D.; Goggin, B.S.; et al. A small-molecule antagonist of HIF2α is efficacious in preclinical models of renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 2016, *76*, 5491–5500. [CrossRef]
- Courtney, K.D.; Infante, J.R.; Lam, E.T.; Figlin, R.A.; Rini, B.I.; Brugarolas, J.; Zojwalla, N.J.; Lowe, A.M.; Wang, K.; Wallace, E.M.; et al. Phase I dose-escalation trial of PT2385, a first-in-class hypoxia-inducible factor-2a antagonist in patients with previously treated advanced clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2018, 36, 867–874. [CrossRef]
- 39. Bozic, I.; Reiter, J.G.; Allen, B.; Antal, T.; Chatterjee, K.; Shah, P.; Moon, Y.S.; Yaqubie, A.; Kelly, N.; Le, D.T.; et al. Evolutionary dynamics of cancer in response to targeted combination therapy. *Elife* **2013**, *2013*. [CrossRef]
- Nicholson, H.E.; Tariq, Z.; Housden, B.E.; Jennings, R.B.; Stransky, L.A.; Perrimon, N.; Signoretti, S.; Kaelin, W.G. HIF-independent synthetic lethality between CDK4/6 inhibition and VHL loss across species. *Sci. Signal.* 2019, 12. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 41. Turcotte, S.; Chan, D.A.; Sutphin, P.D.; Hay, M.P.; Denny, W.A.; Giaccia, A.J. A Molecule Targeting VHL-Deficient Renal Cell Carcinoma that Induces Autophagy. *Cancer Cell* **2008**, *14*, 90–102. [CrossRef]
- 42. Jones, T.M.; Carew, J.S.; Nawrocki, S.T. Therapeutic targeting of autophagy for renal cell carcinoma therapy. *Cancers* **2020**, *12*, 1185. [CrossRef]
- Dunn, G.P.; Old, L.J.; Schreiber, R.D. The Three Es of Cancer Immunoediting. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 2004, 22, 329–360. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Kim, R.; Emi, M.; Tanabe, K. Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. *Immunology* **2007**, *121*, 1–14. [CrossRef]

- Rini, B.I.; Plimack, E.R.; Stus, V.; Gafanov, R.; Hawkins, R.; Nosov, D.; Pouliot, F.; Alekseev, B.; Soulières, D.; Melichar, B.; et al. Pembrolizumab plus Axitinib versus Sunitinib for Advanced Renal-Cell Carcinoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2019, *380*, 1116–1127. [CrossRef]
- Wolf, Y.; Bartok, O.; Patkar, S.; Eli, G.B.; Cohen, S.; Litchfield, K.; Levy, R.; Jiménez-Sánchez, A.; Trabish, S.; Lee, J.S.; et al. UVB-Induced Tumor Heterogeneity Diminishes Immune Response in Melanoma. *Cell* 2019, 179, 219.e21–235.e21. [CrossRef]
- 47. Maia, M.C.; Almeida, L.; Bergerot, P.G.; Dizman, N.; Pal, S.K. Relationship of tumor mutational burden (TMB) to immunotherapy response in metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2018**, *36*, 662. [CrossRef]
- 48. Miao, D.; Margolis, C.A.; Gao, W.; Voss, M.H.; Li, W.; Martini, D.J.; Norton, C.; Bossé, D.; Wankowicz, S.M.; Cullen, D.; et al. Genomic correlates of response to immune checkpoint therapies in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Science* **2018**, *359*, 801–806. [CrossRef]
- 49. Pan, D.; Kobayashi, A.; Jiang, P.; De Andrade, L.F.; Tay, R.E.; Luoma, A.M.; Tsoucas, D.; Qiu, X.; Lim, K.; Rao, P.; et al. A major chromatin regulator determines resistance of tumor cells to T cell-mediated killing. *Science* **2018**, 359, 770–775. [CrossRef]
- Braun, D.A.; Ishii, Y.; Walsh, A.M.; Van Allen, E.M.; Wu, C.J.; Shukla, S.A.; Choueiri, T.K. Clinical Validation of PBRM1 Alterations as a Marker of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Response in Renal Cell Carcinoma. *JAMA Oncol.* 2019, *5*, 1631–1633. [CrossRef]
- 51. Motzer, R.J.; Robbins, P.B.; Powles, T.; Albiges, L.; Haanen, J.B.; Larkin, J.; Mu, X.J.; Ching, K.A.; Uemura, M.; Pal, S.K.; et al. Avelumab plus axitinib versus sunitinib in advanced renal cell carcinoma: Biomarker analysis of the phase 3 JAVELIN Renal 101 trial. *Nat. Med.* **2020**. [CrossRef]
- Motzer, R.J.; Choueiri, T.K.; McDermott, D.F.; Powles, T.; Yao, J.; Ammar, R.; Papillon-Cavanagh, S.; Saggi, S.S.; McHenry, B.M.; Ross-Macdonald, P.; et al. Biomarker analyses from the phase III CheckMate 214 trial of nivolumab plus ipilimumab (N+I) or sunitinib (S) in advanced renal cell carcinoma (aRCC). *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2020, *38*, 5009. [CrossRef]
- 53. Tucker, M.D.; Rini, B.I. Predicting response to immunotherapy in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Cancers* **2020**, *12*, 2662. [CrossRef]
- 54. Andor, N.; Maley, C.C.; Ji, H.P. Genomic instability in cancer: Teetering on the limit of tolerance. *Cancer Res.* **2017**, 77, 2179–2185. [CrossRef]
- 55. Pal, D.; Pertot, A.; Shirole, N.H.; Yao, Z.; Anaparthy, N.; Garvin, T.; Cox, H.; Chang, K.; Rollins, F.; Kendall, J.; et al. TGF-β reduces DNA ds-Break repair mechanisms to heighten genetic diversity and adaptability of CD44+/CD24-cancer cells. *Elife* **2017**, *6*. [CrossRef]
- 56. Sitaram, R.T.; Mallikarjuna, P.; Landström, M.; Ljungberg, B. Transforming growth factor-β promotes aggressiveness and invasion of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget* **2016**, *7*, 35917–35931. [CrossRef]
- 57. Morris, J.C.; Tan, A.R.; Olencki, T.E.; Shapiro, G.I.; Dezube, B.J.; Reiss, M.; Hsu, F.J.; Berzofsky, J.A.; Lawrence, D.P. Phase I study of GC1008 (Fresolimumab): A human anti-transforming growth factor-beta (TGFβ) monoclonal antibody in patients with advanced malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. *PLoS ONE* **2014**, *9*. [CrossRef]
- Okazaki, A.; Gameiro, P.A.; Christodoulou, D.; Laviollette, L.; Schneider, M.; Chaves, F.; Stemmer-Rachamimov, A.; Yazinski, S.A.; Lee, R.; Stephanopoulos, G.; et al. Glutaminase and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors suppress pyrimidine synthesis and VHL-deficient renal cancers. *J. Clin. Investig.* 2017, 127, 1631–1645. [CrossRef]
- 59. Yu, H.; Pak, H.; Hammond-Martel, I.; Ghram, M.; Rodrigue, A.; Daou, S.; Barbour, H.; Corbeil, L.; Hébert, J.; Drobetsky, E.; et al. Tumor suppressor and deubiquitinase BAP1 promotes DNA double-strand break repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2014, 111, 285–290. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 60. Pfister, S.X.; Markkanen, E.; Jiang, Y.; Sarkar, S.; Woodcock, M.; Orlando, G.; Mavrommati, I.; Pai, C.C.; Zalmas, L.P.; Drobnitzky, N.; et al. Inhibiting WEE1 Selectively Kills Histone H3K36me3-Deficient Cancers by dNTP Starvation. *Cancer Cell* **2015**, *28*, 557–568. [CrossRef]
- 61. Garje, R.; An, J.; Greco, A.; Vaddepally, R.K.; Zakharia, Y. The future of immunotherapy-based combination therapy in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Cancers* **2020**, *12*, 143. [CrossRef]
- 62. Hughes, D.; Andersson, D.I. Evolutionary consequences of drug resistance: Shared principles across diverse targets and organisms. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **2015**, *16*, 459–471. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 63. Pluchino, K.M.; Hall, M.D.; Goldsborough, A.S.; Callaghan, R.; Gottesman, M.M. Collateral sensitivity as a strategy against cancer multidrug resistance. *Drug Resist. Updat.* **2012**, *15*, 98–105. [CrossRef]

- Acar, A.; Nichol, D.; Fernandez-Mateos, J.; Cresswell, G.; Barozzi, I.; Hong, S.P.; Spiteri, I.; Stubbs, M.; Burke, R.; Stewart, A.; et al. Exploiting evolutionary herding to control drug resistance in cancer. *bioRxiv* 2019, 566950. [CrossRef]
- 65. Acar, A.; Nichol, D.; Fernandez-Mateos, J.; Cresswell, G.D.; Barozzi, I.; Hong, S.P.; Trahearn, N.; Spiteri, I.; Stubbs, M.; Burke, R.; et al. Exploiting evolutionary steering to induce collateral drug sensitivity in cancer. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*. [CrossRef]
- 66. Lanman, R.B.; Mortimer, S.A.; Zill, O.A.; Sebisanovic, D.; Lopez, R.; Blau, S.; Collisson, E.A.; Divers, S.G.; Hoon, D.S.B.; Kopetz, E.S.; et al. Analytical and Clinical Validation of a Digital Sequencing Panel for Quantitative, Highly Accurate Evaluation of Cell-Free Circulating Tumor DNA. *PLoS ONE* 2015, 10, e0140712. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 67. Diehl, F.; Schmidt, K.; Choti, M.A.; Romans, K.; Goodman, S.; Li, M.; Thornton, K.; Agrawal, N.; Sokoll, L.; Szabo, S.A.; et al. Circulating mutant DNA to assess tumor dynamics. *Nat. Med.* **2008**, *14*, 985–990. [CrossRef]
- Cimadamore, A.; Gasparrini, S.; Massari, F.; Santoni, M.; Cheng, L.; Lopez-Beltran, A.; Scarpelli, M.; Montironi, R. Emerging molecular technologies in renal cell carcinoma: Liquid biopsy. *Cancers* 2019, *11*, 196. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 69. Rosenquist, T.A.; Grollman, A.P. Mutational signature of aristolochic acid: Clue to the recognition of a global disease. *DNA Repair (Amst.)* **2016**, *44*, 205–211. [CrossRef]
- 70. Hodzic, E.; Shrestha, R.; Malikic, S.; Collins, C.C.; Litchfield, K.; Turajlic, S.; Sahinalp, S.C. Identification of conserved evolutionary trajectories in tumors. *Bioinformatics* **2020**, *36*, i427–i435. [CrossRef]
- 71. Caravagna, G.; Giarratano, Y.; Ramazzotti, D.; Tomlinson, I.; Graham, T.A.; Sanguinetti, G.; Sottoriva, A. Detecting repeated cancer evolution from multi-region tumor sequencing data. *Nat. Methods* **2018**, *15*, 707–714. [CrossRef]
- 72. Pan, S.J.; Yang, Q. A survey on transfer learning. IEEE Trans. Knowl. Data Eng. 2010, 22, 1345–1359. [CrossRef]
- Hajiramezanali, E.; Dadaneh, S.Z.; Karbalayghareh, A.; Zhou, M.; Qian, X. Bayesian multi-domain learning for cancer subtype discovery from next-generation sequencing count data. *Adv. Neural Inf. Process. Syst.* 2018, 2018, 9115–9124.
- 74. Greaves, M. Darwinian medicine: A case for cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2007, 7, 213-221. [CrossRef]
- 75. Nesse, R.M. How is Darwinian medicine useful? West. J. Med. 2001, 174, 358–360. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

5.2. TRIP13 predicts poor prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma.

Authors: Adam Kowalewski, Damian Jaworski, Paulina Antosik, Marta Smolińska, Joanna Ligmanowska, Dariusz Grzanka and Łukasz Szylberg

Journal: Am. J. Cancer Res.

Impact factor: 6.166

MNiSW points: 100

Published: 1 September 2020

Original Article TRIP13 predicts poor prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma

Adam Kowalewski¹, Damian Jaworski¹, Paulina Antosik¹, Marta Smolińska¹, Joanna Ligmanowska¹, Dariusz Grzanka¹, Łukasz Szylberg^{1,2}

¹Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Poland; ²Department of Tumor Pathology and Pathomorphology, Oncology Centre-Prof. Franciszek Łukaszczyk Memorial Hospital, Bydgoszcz, Poland

Received July 10, 2020; Accepted August 3, 2020; Epub September 1, 2020; Published September 15, 2020

Abstract: What is the leading molecular mechanism that causes broad resistance to systemic therapies remains a key question in renal cancer related research. We explored associations of TRIP13 expression with the clinical course using the tissue microarray (TMA). The TMA contained specimens from 87 patients diagnosed with clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC). We performed immunohistochemistry to investigate TRIP13 protein expression levels. The overall survival (OS) was analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier method and log-rank statistics. Univariate and multivariate analyses were conducted using Cox proportional hazard models. Median follow up for the TMA cohort was 7.0 years. Tissues from 28.74% of patients demonstrated high TRIP13 expression. Mean TRIP13 expression in TRIP13-rich tumors was significantly higher comparing to adjacent normal tissues (P < 0.05). TRIP13 expression did not significantly correlate with stage nor tumor grade (P > 0.05). Elevated expression of TRIP13 served as an independent unfavorable prognostic indicator of survival in ccRCC (P < 0.05). TRIP13 overexpression predicts poor prognosis in ccRCC. Together with the emerging reports, this observation raises a suspicion that TRIP13 is a substantial driver of resistance to systemic therapies against kidney cancer.

Keywords: TRIP13, ccRCC, kidney cancer, renal carcinoma, expression, prognosis, survival, OS

Introduction

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) is among the 10 most common cancers in both men and women. and its incidence is on the rise. In 2020, 73,750 new cases and 14.830 deaths due to RCC will occur in the US and over 400,000 new cases will occur worldwide [1]. Up to 30-40% of RCC cases are present as metastatic disease, either initially or after curative treatment [2]. The most common subtype, clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC), arises from the proximal convoluted tubule cells and accounts for approximately 70% of all cases [3]. Despite significant improvements in the clinical management over the last decade, most patients with metastatic ccRCC succumb to cancer progression within 1.5 years [4].

The exceptional intratumoral heterogeneity of RCC represents a considerable challenge limiting the efficacy of established systemic therapies [5]. Such treatment often further exacerbates the heterogeneity and leads to outgrowth of tumor cell subclones with resistance properties, including the resistance to apoptosis [6, 7]. The accumulating alterations found in both intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways aberrantly extend cells viability and eventually contribute to cancer progression [8]. Since apoptosis causes negligible damage to adjacent tissues [9], the apoptotic pathway-targeted therapies emerge as particularly promising strategy for RCC treatment.

TRIP13 is a protein encoded by *TRIP13* gene. Recent evidence implicates TRIP13 in various cell cycle phases, including meiosis, G2/Prophase and during the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC) activation. TRIP13 is required for the development of higher-order chromosome structures and contributes to synaptonemal complex formation. It also promotes early steps of the DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs) repair process. The latest reports together with in silico analysis, indicate its prominent role in driving tumorigenesis.

The Human Pathology Atlas is based on a systems-based analysis of the transcriptome of 17 main cancer types using data from 8,000 patients [10]. A national supercomputer center was used to analyze more than 2.5 petabytes of underlying publicly available data from the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) to generate 900,000 survival plots describing the consequence of RNA and protein levels on clinical survival. All the data in the knowledge resource allows exploration of the human proteome. In this study, we explore the clinical association of TRIP13 with ccRCC histology and oncologic outcomes using the tissue microarray (TMA) ccRCC cohort, and validate these findings in TCGA.

Materials and methods

Tissue microarray

Tissue microarray (TMA) slide was obtained from a commercial supplier (US Biomax, Rockville, MD; TMA catalog number HKid-CRC180-Sur-01). The TMA (HKid-CRC180Sur-01) contained specimens from 92 patients, tumor and matched normal adjacent tissue (1 core/case), followed up for 7 years. Cores derived from 3 patients were missing, therefore these patients were excluded from the analysis. Retrievable patient data included age, pathology diagnosis, TNM, grade, stage and overall survival. The quality of the TMA was additionally approved by our pathologist. The study follows the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The tissues were collected under the highest ethical standards and HIPPA approved protocols with the donor being informed completely and with their consent. Since the tissues were commercially purchased, the study has been exempted from requiring ethical approval.

Immunohistochemistry

The TMA slide was processed at the Department of Clinical Pathology. The primary rabbit polyclonal anti-TRIP13 (HPA005727) antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) was applied to estimate the expression of TRIP13 protein. The protocol has been standardized using a series of positive and negative control reactions. The positive control reaction was performed on a tissue model selected according to reference sources (The Human Protein Atlas: http://www.proteinatlas.org) and the antibody data-sheet. TRIP13 positive control reaction was performed on pancreatic cancer tissue showing cytoplasmic and nuclear expression. All negative control reactions were performed on additionally analyzed tissue sections, by substituting the primary antibody with a solution of 1% BSA (bovine serum albumin) diluted in PBS (phosphate buffered saline). Immunohistochemical staining was performed using primary rabbit polyclonal anti-TRIP13 (1:200) antibody and visualization system En-VisionFlex+ Anti-Mouse/Rabbit HRP-Labeled Polymer (Dako, Agilent Technologies) on an Autostainer Link48 platform. Finally, tissue sections were dehydrated in ethanol of increasing concentration (from 80% to 98%), then cleared in a series of xylenes (from I to IV) and coverslipped in a medium (Dako, Agilent Technologies, USA).

IHC analysis and scoring

Initially, two experienced pathologists blinded to the clinical data evaluated the immunostained slides using the light microscope ELIPSE E800 (Nikon Instruments Europe, Amsterdam, Netherlands) at 20× and 40× original objective magnification. IHC revealed cytoplasmic and nuclear TRIP13 expression.

The cytoplasmic staining intensity of cells and percentage of cells at each staining intensity level were determined for each fixed core in the TMA. Staining intensity was graded as 0 (negative), 1+ (weak), 2+ (modarate), and 3+ (strong). The H-score was assigned using the following formula: $[1 \times (\% \text{ cells } 1+) + 2 \times (\% \text{ cells } 2+) + 3 \times (\% \text{ cells } 3+)]$, obtaining a value from 0 to 300.

The nuclear expression evaluation was scored on a two-point scale: 0 (negative IHC reaction result) and 1 (positive IHC reaction result).

Statistical analysis

All the statistical analyses were performed using Statistica version 10 (StatSoft) and Microsoft Excel 2019. The comparative studies were analyzed statistically using the nonparametric chi-square test. The p value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

87) patient cohort	
Clinical information	n (%)
Age, yr	
Mean	59.0
Range	29-83
Stage	
I	58 (66.67)
II	17 (19.54)
III	3 (3.45)
IV	2 (2.30)
Unknown	0 (0.00)
T Stage	
T1	62 (71.26)
T2	17 (19.54)
T3	4 (4.60)
Unknown	4 (4.60)
Lymph nodes	
N1	1 (1.15)
NO/Nx	84 (96.55)
Unknown	2 (2.30)
Metastasis	
Yes	2 (2.30)
No	85 (97.70)
Grade	
G1	32 (36.78)
G1-G2	14 (16.09)
G2	27 (31.03)
G2-G3	4 (4.60)
G3	9 (10.34)
G3-G4	1 (1.15)
Median follow up time	7.0
Disease course	
Alive	59 (67.82)
Dead	28 (32.18)

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of TMA (n =87) patient cohort

Results

The location and expression of TRIP13 protein in ccRCC TMA cohort

IHC was performed on 87 pairs of ccRCC and corresponding normal tissues. Five cores of corresponding tissues were lost during IHC staining procedure. **Table 1** summarizes the characteristics of the TMA cohort. The mean age of patients was 59 years (range: 29-83 years) and the median follow-up was 7.0 years.

Cytoplasmic TRIP13 staining was observed in 77 (88.51%) of 87 ccRCC tissues and the medi-

an expression was 100 (interquartile range 0-215). Among adjacent controls, 70 (85.37%) of 82 cores were positive and the median expression was 115 (interguartile range 70-200). Cytoplasmic expressions of TRIP13 in ccRCC tissues were lower than those in adjacent controls (P < 0.05, Figure 1A). Next, we dichotomized the cytoplasmic expressions of TRIP13 to low expression and high expression. Using the tool Cutoff Finder, we set the best cutoff at 105 [11]. Mean TRIP13 expression in TRIP13rich tumors was significantly higher comparing to adjacent normal tissues (P < 0.05, Figure 1B). Similarly, adjacent normal tissues were characterized by elevated TRIP13 expression when compared to TRIP13-depleted tumors (P < 0.05) (Figure 1C).

Nuclear TRIP13 staining was observed in 14 cancer tissues (16.28%) (**Figure 2A**) and only in 2 adjacent normal tissues (2.44%) (**Figure 2B**). This difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05).

Clinical course and TRIP13 protein expression in ccRCC TMA cohort

TRIP13 protein expression did not significantly correlate with TNM stage nor tumor grade (both P > 0.05). Univariate analysis revealed that patients with high cytoplasmic TRIP13 protein expression had significantly shorter OS comparing to those with low expression (P < 0.05, HR = 2.88 [1.35-6.15]) (**Figure 3**). We found no significant association between the presence of TRIP13 nuclear expression and OS (**Figure 4**). In conclusion, TRIP13 overexpression predicts poor prognosis in ccRCC. Together with the emerging reports, this observation raises a suspicion that TRIP13 is a substantial driver of resistance to systemic therapies against kidney cancer.

Discussion

TCGA ccRCC cohort analysis

We found that cytoplasmic TRIP13 protein overexpression significantly correlates with poor survival in ccRCC patients. To evaluate whether the expression of TRIP13 mRNA was also associated with the clinical course of the disease, we accessed TCGA database. All transcriptomics information were obtained employing the Human Pathology Atlas, the separate part of The Human Protein Atlas available from www.



Figure 1. A. Cytoplasmic expression of TRIP13 in Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma (CCRCC) and adjacent normal tissue (Control). B. Cytoplasmic TRIP13 expression in TRIP13-rich CCRCC and control. C. Cytoplasmic TRIP13 expression in TRIP13-depleted CCRCC and control.



Figure 2. Prevalence of positive TRIP13 nuclear expression among (A) clear cell Renal Cell Carcinoma tissues, and (B) adjacent normal tissues (Control).



Figure 3. The survival curve of clear cell Renal Cell Carcinoma patients according to TRIP13 cytoplasmic expression.

proteinatlas.org. TCGA cohort consisted of 528 patients diagnosed with ccRCC [12]. The available characteristics of study subjects are summarized in Table 2. The mean age of patients was 60.5 years (range: 26-90 years) and the median follow-up was 3.28 years. The TCGA RNA-seq data was mapped using the Ensembl gene id available from TCGA, and the FPKMs (number Fragments Per Kilobase of exon per Million reads) for TRIP13 were subsequently used for quantification of expression with a detection threshold of 1 FPKM. Based on the FPKM value of TRIP13, patients were classified into two expression groups. To choose the best FPKM cutoff for grouping the patients most significantly, all FPKM values from the 20th to

80th percentiles were used to group the patients, significant differences in the survival outcomes of the groups were examined and the value vielding the lowest log-rank P value (3.4e-11) was selected. 109 of 528 (20.64%) patients had higher expression than the established cutoff. The prognosis of each group of patients was examined by Kaplan-Meier survival estimators and the survival outcomes of the two groups were compared by logrank tests. The five-year survival was reached by 70% of patients with low TRIP13 expression and 39% of those with high expression. Taken together, TRIP13 mRNA expression is prognostic and its high expression is unfavourable in RCC (P < 0.05), according to TCGA.

The Human Protein Atlas tissue repository could not be used to evaluate TRIP13 protein expression in RCC because it showed low or negative immunoreactivity to both recommended antibodies (HPA0-53093 and HPA005727). Also the group of patients in this trial was small (n = 12).

Role of TRIP13 in cancer

TRIP13 takes part in a variety of cellular activities, including cell cycle regulation, DNA repair and apoptosis. Study on multiple myeloma cells revealed that overexpression of TRIP13 abrogates SAC. The underlying mechanism includes activation of PI3K-Akt signaling pathway that induces proteasome-mediated degradation of MAD2, the key component of SAC [13]. Dysfunctional SAC contributes to chromosomal instability (CIN), aneuploidy, and eventually facilitates cancer progression [14-16]. Moreover, one of major downstream effectors of AKT is the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), which induces cell growth, proliferation, survival, and motility, as well as angiogenesis [17].



Figure 4. The survival curve of clear cell Renal Cell Carcinoma patients according to TRIP13 nuclear expression.

Table 2. Baseline characteristics of TCGA (n	=
528) patient cohort	

71	
Clinical information	n (%)
Age, yr	
Mean	60.5
Range	26-90
Sex	
Male	344 (65.15)
Female	184 (34.85)
Race	
White	459 (86.93)
Black or African American	54 (10.23)
Asian	8 (1.52)
Unknown	7 (1.33)
Stage	
I	263 (49.81)
II	57 (10.80)
III	123 (23.30)
IV	82 (15.53)
Unknown	3 (0.57)
Median follow up time	3.28
Disease course	
Alive	355 (67.23)
Dead	173 (32.77)

According to study of Yao et al., TRIP13 promotes growth and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma through inhibition of TGF- β 1/ Smad3 signaling [18]. Repressed Smad3 activity has been associated with breast cancer bone metastasis by its effects on tumor angiogenesis, and epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [19]. Zhou et al. revealed that TRIP13 enhances the proliferation and invasion via activation of the NOTCH signaling and induction of EMT [20]. In damaged cells, TRIP13 functions to favor nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) over homologous recombination (HR). Both are the major pathways for DNA DSBs repair. While HR results in accurate repair, NHEJ is an intrinsically error-prone pathway and may lead to CIN and eventually carcinogenesis [21].

Study of Banerjee et al. demonstrated significant impact of TRIP13 in chemoresistance development among head and neck cancers. Cells with downregulated TRIP13 expression, treated with cisplatin were characterized by better response rate and slower growth [22]. TRIP13 might enhance the resistance to systemic therapy in RCC as well. The systemic therapy (targeted therapy, immunotherapy or chemotherapy) could constitute a selective pressure acting on TRIP13 expression in RCC cells. During the course of the disease, the population of cells with higher expression of TRIP13 would rise because of its protective properties. Ultimately, the cancer tissue would become irreversibly resistant to applied treatment. Our results do not support this hypothesis, because we did not find significant relationships between protein expression and grade or stage of the disease. On the other hand, this approach might be worth pursuing, since the relatively small cohort of advanced ccRCC within our TMA could not ensure a valid representation.

Although the detrimental effect of TRIP13 has been confirmed in biologically diverse neoplasms [13-25], the exact mechanisms and their relative importance are not yet clear. While, as previously described, TRIP13 promotes malignant properties of ovarian cancer cells [20], elevated TRIP13 mRNA expression is associated with favorable outcomes in ovarian



Figure 5. Probable interactions among TRIP13 and other molecules within clear cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. Overexpression of TRIP13 activates PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway. AKT induces proteasome-mediated degradation of MAD2, the key component of SAC. Dysfunctional SAC leads to CIN and aneuploidy, which, together with mTOR, mediate cancer progression. TRIP13 together with TTC5 as a cofactor, inhibits p53 signaling and, consequently, suppresses the apoptosis. In cells with damaged DNA, TRIP13 functions to favor NHEJ over HR. NHEJ as more likely to be inaccurate, may contribute to cancer progression. TRIP13 also induces the expressions of E-cadherin and vimentin directly or through activation of the NOTCH signaling. The net effect is the promotion EMT, which is directly associated with gain of migratory and invasive capabilities. TRIP13 reduces the expressions of TGF-β1, TβRII and Smad3, the mediators of cellular senescence. The inhibition of TGF-β1/Smad3 signaling supports tumor growth. Decreased Smad3 activity promotes EMT. SAC-spindle assembly checkpoint; CIN-chromosomal instability; NHEJ-non-homologous end joining; HR-homologous recombination; EMT-epithelial-mesenchymal transition.

cancer patients [12]. It demonstrates that the actual contribution of TRIP13 to tumorigenesis could be far more complex.

Role of TRIP13 in kidney

It remains unexplored whether TRIP13 plays a significant role in renal cell carcinoma. However, Pressly et al. recently shed new light on the antiapoptotic role of TRIP13 in renal tubules. As they reported, TRIP13 interacts with Tetratricopeptide Repeat Domain 5 (TTC5) and inhibits p53. Insufficient TRIP13 consequently increases the susceptibility of damaged tubular epithelial cells to progress towards apoptotic cell death [31].

Interestingly, biallelic loss-of-function mutations in TRIP13 have been shown to predispose to Wilms tumor, a kidney cancer that primarily

affects children [32]. The authors of this report indicate a substantial impairment of SAC, which eventually leads to a high rate of chromosome missegregation in these patients. This study supports the existence of a close relationship between TRIP13 and SAC, which when disturbed, increases cancer risk or drives its progression.

Potential role of TRIP13 in renal cell carcinoma

In **Figure 5**, we summarized probable interactions among TRIP13 and other molecules within kidney cancer cell. This pathway diagram illustrates how TRIP13 may affect survival in these patients, and therefore may serve as a starting point for translational research.

It is tempting to speculate, that the ability of TRIP13 to inhibit apoptosis is of paramount importance in RCC patients. Firstly, it has been confirmed in renal tubular epithelial cells, the same that give rise to ccRCC. Secondly, there is accumulating evidence of positive responses to apoptosis inducers in RCC [33-40].

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by grant POWR. 03.02.00-00-I019/16 from The National Centre for Research and Development.

Disclosure of conflict of interest

None.

Address correspondence to: Dr. Adam Kowalewski, Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Poland. Tel: +48-503-134-123; ORCID: 0000-0003-2504-6307; E-mail: kowalewskiresearch@gmail.com

References

- [1] American Cancer Society. About Kidney Cancer Overview and Types. 2018.
- [2] Choueiri TK and Motzer RJ. Systemic therapy for metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2017; 376: 354-366.
- [3] Moch H, Cubilla AL, Humphrey PA, Reuter VE and Ulbright TM. The 2016 WHO classification of tumours of the urinary system and male genital organs-part a: renal, penile, and testicular tumours. Eur Urol 2016; 70: 93-105.

- [4] Hsieh JJ, Purdue MP, Signoretti S, Swanton C, Albiges L, Schmidinger M, Heng DY, Larkin J and Ficarra V. Renal cell carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis Prim 2017; 3: 17009.
- [5] Gerlinger M, Rowan AJ, Horswell S, Math M, Larkin J, Endesfelder D, Gronroos E, Martinez P, Matthews N, Stewart A, Tarpey P, Varela I, Phillimore B, Begum S, McDonald NQ, Butler A, Jones D, Raine K, Latimer C, Santos CR, Nohadani M, Eklund AC, Spencer-Dene B, Clark G, Pickering L, Stamp G, Gore M, Szallasi Z, Downward J, Futreal PA and Swanton C. Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 883-892.
- [6] Stewart GD, O'Mahony FC, Laird A, Eory L, Lubbock ALR, Mackay A, Nanda J, O'Donnell M, Mullen P, McNeill SA, Riddick ACP, Berney D, Bex A, Aitchison M, Overton IM, Harrison DJ and Powles T. Sunitinib treatment exacerbates intratumoral heterogeneity in metastatic renal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2015; 21: 4212-4223.
- [7] Yang WZ, Zhou H and Yan Y. XIAP underlies apoptosis resistance of renal cell carcinoma cells. Mol Med Rep 2017; 17: 125-130.
- [8] Rajandram R, Bennett NC, Morais C, Johnson DW and Gobe GC. Renal cell carcinoma: Resistance to therapy, role of apoptosis, and the prognostic and therapeutic target potential of TRAF proteins. Med Hypotheses 2012; 78: 330-336.
- [9] Walsh CM. Grand challenges in cell death and survival: apoptosis vs. necroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 2014; 2: 3.
- [10] Uhlen M, Zhang C, Lee S, Sjöstedt E, Fagerberg L, Bidkhori G, Benfeitas R, Arif M, Liu Z, Edfors F, Sanli K, von Feilitzen K, Oksvold P, Lundberg E, Hober S, Nilsson P, Mattsson J, Schwenk JM, Brunnström H, Glimelius B, Sjöblom T, Edqvist PH, Djureinovic D, Micke P, Lindskog C, Mardinoglu A and Ponten F. A pathology atlas of the human cancer transcriptome. Science 2017; 357: eaan2507.
- [11] Budczies J, Klauschen F, Sinn B V, Győrffy B, Schmitt WD, Darb-Esfahani S and Denkert C. Cutoff Finder: a comprehensive and straightforward Web application enabling rapid biomarker cutoff optimization. PLoS One 2012; 7: e51862.
- [12] KIDNEY RENAL CLEAR CELL CARCINOMA (KIRC)-Interactive survival scatter plot & Survival analysis, TCGA RNA samples/data available from v18.1.proteinatlas.org. no date.
- [13] Tao Y, Yang G, Yang H, Song D, Hu L, Xie B, Wang H, Gao L, Gao M, Xu H, Xu Z, Wu X, Zhang Y, Zhu W, Zhan F and Shi J. TRIP13 impairs mitotic checkpoint surveillance and is associated with poor prognosis in multiple myeloma. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 26718-26731.

- [14] Ma HT and Poon RYC. TRIP13 regulates both the activation and inactivation of the spindleassembly checkpoint. Cell Rep 2016; 14: 1086-1099.
- [15] Kops GJPL, Weaver BAA and Cleveland DW. On the road to cancer: aneuploidy and the mitotic checkpoint. Nat Rev Cancer 2005; 5: 773-85.
- [16] Fang X and Zhang P. Aneuploidy and tumorigenesis. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2011; 22: 595-601.
- [17] Laplante M and Sabatini DM. mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell 2012; 149: 274-93.
- [18] Yao J, Zhang X, Li J, Zhao D, Gao B, Zhou H, Gao S and Zhang L. Silencing TRIP13 inhibits cell growth and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma by activating of TGF-β1/smad3. Cancer Cell Int 2018; 18: 208.
- [19] Petersen M, Pardali E, van der Horst G, Cheung H, van den Hoogen C, van der Pluijm G and Ten Dijke P. Smad2 and Smad3 have opposing roles in breast cancer bone metastasis by differentially affecting tumor angiogenesis. Oncogene 2010; 29: 1351-61.
- [20] Zhou XY and Shu XM. TRIP13 promotes proliferation and invasion of epithelial ovarian cancer cells through Notch signaling pathway. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2019; 23: 522-529.
- [21] Sheng N, Yan L, Wu K, You W, Gong J, Hu L, Tan G, Chen H and Wang Z. TRIP13 promotes tumor growth and is associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. Cell Death Dis 2018; 9: 402.
- [22] Banerjee R, Russo N, Liu M, Basrur V, Bellile E, Palanisamy N, Scanlon CS, van Tubergen E, Inglehart RC, Metwally T, Mani RS, Yocum A, Nyati MK, Castilho RM, Varambally S, Chinnaiyan AM and D'Silva NJ. TRIP13 promotes error-prone nonhomologous end joining and induces chemoresistance in head and neck cancer. Nat Commun 2014; 5: 4527.
- [23] Cao Y, Zhu W, Chen W, Wu J, Hou G and Li Y. Prognostic value of BIRC5 in lung adenocarcinoma lacking EGFR, KRAS, and ALK mutations by integrated bioinformatics analysis. Dis Markers 2019; 2019: 1-12.
- [24] Di S, Li M, Ma Z, Guo K, Li X and Yan X. TRIP13 upregulation is correlated with poor prognosis and tumor progression in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Pathol Res Pract 2019; 152415.
- [25] Yan X, Guo Z, Liu X, Feng Y, Zhao Y, Liu T and Li S. Four novel biomarkers for bladder cancer identified by weighted gene coexpression network analysis. J Cell Physiol 2019; 234: 19073-19087.
- [26] Zhang X, Zhou J, Xue D, Li Z, Liu Y and Dong L. MiR-515-5p acts as a tumor suppressor via targeting TRIP13 in prostate cancer. Int J Biol Macromol 2019; 129: 227-232.

- [27] Liu M, Qiu Y, Jin T, Zhou Y, Mao Z and Zhang Y. Meta-analysis of microarray datasets identify several chromosome segregation-related cancer/testis genes potentially contributing to anaplastic thyroid carcinoma. PeerJ 2018; 6: e5822.
- [28] Phan NN, Wang CY, Li KL, Chen CF, Chiao CC, Yu HG, Huang PL and Lin YC. Distinct expression of CDCA3, CDCA5, and CDCA8 leads to shorter relapse free survival in breast cancer patient. Oncotarget 2018; 9: 6977-6992.
- [29] Zhou K, Zhang W, Zhang Q, Gui R, Zhao H, Chai X, Li Y, Wei X and Song Y. Loss of thyroid hormone receptor interactor 13 inhibits cell proliferation and survival in human chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 25469-25481.
- [30] Dazhi W, Mengxi Z, Fufeng C and Meixing Y. Elevated expression of thyroid hormone receptor-interacting protein 13 drives tumorigenesis and affects clinical outcome. Biomark Med 2017; 11: 19-31.
- [31] Pressly JD, Hama T, Brien SO, Regner KR and Park F. TRIP13-deficient tubular epithelial cells are susceptible to apoptosis following acute kidney injury. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 43196.
- [32] Yost S, Wolf B de, Hanks S, Zachariou A, Marcozzi C, Clarke M, Voer R de, Etemad B, Uijttewaal E, Ramsay E, Wylie H, Elliott A, Picton S, Smith A, Smithson S, Seal S, Ruark E, Houge G, Pines J, Kops GJPL and Rahman N. Biallelic TRIP13 mutations predispose to Wilms tumor and chromosome missegregation. Nat Genet 2017; 49: 1148-1151.
- [33] Frees S, Chavez-Munoz C, Zhou B, Raven P, Fazli L, Chi K, Lawson K, Finelli A, Gleave M and So A. Targeting heat-shock protein 27 enhances sensitivity to sorafenib treatment in renal cancer in vitro and in vivo. Eur Urol Suppl 2017; 16: e1480.
- [34] Aggarwal R, Thomas S, Pawlowska N, Bartelink I, Grabowsky J, Jahan T, Cripps A, Harb A, Leng J, Reinert A, Mastroserio I, Truong TG, Ryan CJ and Munster PN. Inhibiting histone deacetylase as a means to reverse resistance to angiogenesis inhibitors: phase I study of abexinostat plus pazopanib in advanced solid tumor malignancies. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 1231-1239.
- [35] Pili R, Quinn DI, Hammers HJ, Monk P, George S, Dorff TB, Olencki T, Shen L, Orillion A, Lamonica D, Fragomeni RS, Szabo Z, Hutson A, Groman A, Perkins SM, Piekarz R and Carducci MA. Immunomodulation by entinostat in renal cell carcinoma patients receiving high-dose interleukin 2: a multicenter, singlearm, phase I/II Trial (NCI-CTEP#7870). Clin Cancer Res 2017; 23: 7199-7208.
- [36] Sato H, Uzu M, Kashiba T, Suzuki R, Fujiwara T, Okuzawa H and Ueno K. Sodium butyrate enhances the growth inhibitory effect of sunitinib

in human renal cell carcinoma cells. Oncol Lett 2017; 14: 937-943.

- [37] Pili R, Liu G, Chintala S, Verheul H, Rehman S, Attwood K, Lodge MA, Wahl R, Martin JI, Miles KM, Paesante S, Adelaiye R, Godoy A, King S, Zwiebel J and Carducci MA. Combination of the histone deacetylase inhibitor vorinostat with bevacizumab in patients with clear-cell renal cell carcinoma: a multicentre, single-arm phase I/II clinical trial. Br J Cancer 2017; 116: 874-883.
- [38] Mao S, Lu G, Lan X, Yuan C, Jiang W, Chen Y, Jin X and Xia Q. Valproic acid inhibits epithelialmesenchymal transition in renal cell carcinoma by decreasing SMAD4 expression. Mol Med Rep 2017; 16: 6190-6199.
- [39] Wei M, Mao S, Lu G, Li L, Lan X, Huang Z, Chen Y, Zhao M, Zhao Y and Xia Q. Valproic acid sensitizes metformin-resistant human renal cell carcinoma cells by upregulating H3 acetylation and EMT reversal. BMC Cancer 2018; 18: 434.
- [40] Nitta T, Koike H, Miyao T, Miyazawa Y, Kato H, Furuya Y, Sekine Y and Suzuki K. YM155 reverses statin resistance in renal cancer by reducing expression of survivin. Anticancer Res 2017; 37: 75-80.

5.3. Overexpression of KIF11 is a poor prognostic factor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma.

Authors: Adam Kowalewski, Damian Jaworski, Paulina Antosik, Marta Smolińska, Joanna Ligmanowska, Dariusz Grzanka and Łukasz Szylberg

Journal: Pol. J. Pathol.

Impact factor: 0.909

MNiSW points: 40

Published: 15 July 2022

ORIGINAL PAPER

Overexpression of kif11 is a poor prognostic factor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma

Adam Michał Kowalewski^{1,2}, Damian Jaworski³, Paulina Antosik¹, Marta Smolińska¹, Joanna Ligmanowska¹, Dariusz Grzanka¹, Łukasz Szylberg^{2,4}

¹Chair and Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, *Collegium Medicum* in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Poland

²Department of Tumor Pathology and Pathomorphology, Oncology Centre – Prof. Franciszek Łukaszczyk Memorial Hospital, Bydgoszcz, Poland

³Division of Ophthalmology and Optometry, Department of Ophthalmology, *Collegium Medicum* in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Poland

⁴Department of Perinatology, Gynaecology and Gynaecologic Oncology, *Collegium Medicum* in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Poland

Unresectable renal cell carcinoma continues to be a great challenge due to our limited understanding of its underlying pathophysiology. We explored the relationship between KIF11 protein expression and the clinical courses of clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) using a tissue microarray.

Material and methods: The tissue microarray contained specimens derived from 90 patients, cancer and matched adjacent non-cancerous tissue (2 cores per case), followed up for 7 years. Tumour samples were evaluated for KIF11 expression using the H-score, and their correlations with clinicopathological data and survival data were analysed.

72.7% of ccRCC tissues presented KIF11 cytoplasmic expression with a median value of 20 (interquartile range 0–200). The nuclear staining was positive in 36.36% of ccRCC tissues. Among controls, nuclear KIF11 expression was absent, but cytoplasmic expression was identified in all cases, with a median value of 230 (interquartile range 45–290). Cytoplasmic KIF11 expression in ccRCC tissues was lower than in the control tissues and was positively correlated with tumour grade and mortality (p < 0.05). KIF11 nuclear expression did not correlate with overall survival.

Elevated expression of KIF11 predicts poor clinical outcome in ccRCC patients. Downregulation of KIF11 may provide a new therapeutic strategy for ccRCC.

Key words: KIF11, ccRCC, kidney cancer, renal carcinoma, expression, prognosis, survival, OS.

Introduction

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) is in the top 10 most common cancers, and its incidence is on the rise. Despite significant advances in medical management, the American Cancer Society estimates that in 2020 in the US, 14,830 people will die from this disease [1]. The most common subtype of RCC that accounts for 65–70% of cases, is the clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC). It originates from the proximal tubular epithelial cells of nephrons [1, 2]. The extraordinary heterogeneity of this tumour poses a great challenge

for its effective treatment [3]. Thus, the establishment of novel molecular targets is an attractive approach.

KIF11, as a motor protein encoded by the *KIF11* gene, assists in spindle dynamics. Among its main functions are chromosome positioning, centrosome separation, and establishing a bipolar spindle during mitosis [4]. Its overexpression reflects poor prognosis in various carcinomas including gastric, laryngeal, breast, prostate, and pancreatic [5–9]. Recent reports together with *in silico* analysis suggest that KIF11 may also contribute to ccRCC progression. We explored associations of KIF11 expression with the clinical course using a tissue microarray (TMA) and validated these findings in The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA).

Material and methods

Tissue microarray

The tissue microarray was purchased from a commercial supplier (US Biomax, Rockville, MD). The tissue microarray (HKid-CRC180Sur-01) contained specimens derived from 90 patients, cancer and matched adjacent non-cancerous tissue (2 cores per case), followed up for 7 years. Samples were consecutively collected from July 2006 to February 2008, following informed consent and under approval of the Ethics Committee. All of the specimens were obtained prior to any therapeutic manipulation. The diagnosis was made by at least 2 different evaluators in accordance with up-to-date World Health Organization guidelines. Two cores with ccRCC and 5 cores with normal adjacent tissue were missing and therefore were excluded from the analysis. Retrievable clinicopathological data included age, pathological diagnosis, TNM, stage, grade, and overall survival (OS). The quality of each specimen was additionally approved by our pathologists.

Immunohistochemistry

The tissue microarray slides were processed at the Department of Clinical Pathology. Primary rabbit polyclonal anti-KIF11 (HPA010568; Sigma-Aldrich, Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) antibody was used to estimate the expression of KIF11 protein. The standardization of the protocol was achieved using a series of control reactions: positive and negative. The positive control reaction was performed in accordance with reference sources (Human Protein Atlas: http://www.proteinatlas.org) and the antibody datasheet. KIF11-positive control reaction performed on pancreatic cancer tissue presented cytoplasmic and nuclear expression. Furthermore, all negative control reactions were performed on additionally analysed tissue sections by substituting the primary antibody with a solution of 1% bovine serum albumin diluted in phosphate-buffered saline. Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining was performed using primary rabbit polyclonal anti-KIF11 (1 : 200) antibody and visualization system EnVisionFlex+ Anti-Mouse/Rabbit HRP-Labelled Polymer (Dako, Agilent Technologies) on an Autostainer Link48 platform. Lastly, dehydration of tissue sections was performed in ethanol at increasing concentrations (80–98%), then cleared in a series of xylenes (I–IV) and cover-slipped in a medium (Dako, Agilent Technologies, USA).

Immunohistochemical analysis and scoring

All immunostained samples were evaluated by 2 experienced pathologists blinded to the patients' clinical data. The level of KIF11 cytoplasmic and nuclear expression were assessed using the light microscope at $20 \times$ and $40 \times$ magnification. The extent of cytoplasmic immunoreactivity was assessed by H-Score. In this case, we distinguished 3 levels of expression intensity (1 + = 'low'/2 + = 'moderate'/3 + = 'high'). The percentage of those cells were applied to the following formula:

 $1 \times (\% \text{ cells } 1+) + 2 \times (\% \text{ cells } 2+) + 3 \times (\% \text{ cells } 3+) = \text{H-score}$

The final score ranged 0–300. The nuclear expression of KIF11 was evaluated using a two-point scale (0 = 'negative IHC result'/1 = 'positive IHC result').

Statistical analysis

All the statistical analyses were performed using Statistica version 10 (StatSoft) and Microsoft Excel 2019. We used the log-rank test to compare the survival distributions of patients with different protein expression patterns. The Kaplan-Meier estimator was performed to estimate the survival functions from lifetime data. We used the Mann-Whitney U test to compare the protein expressions between cancerous and adjacent normal cells. Cox Proportional Hazards for analysing ccRCC survival data were considered. The data were divided into 4 groups according to patients' ages (age ≤ 65 and age > 65 years), grade (G1 and G2, G3), stage (T1 and T2, T3) and KIF11 expression level (KIF11 \leq 42.5 – low and KIF11 > 42.5 - high). The *p*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Ethical review and approval were waived for this study due to the lack of access to identifiable private information. Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study

Results

The study included 88 pairs of ccRCC and corresponding non-cancerous tissue. During the IHC staining procedure, 5 cores of corresponding tissue and 2 cores of ccRCC were lost. Summarized charac-

CLINICAL INFORMATION	N (%)
Age [years]	
Mean	59.09
Range	29-83
Stage	
Ι	60 (68.20)
II	17 (19.30)
III	3 (3.40)
IV	2 (2.30)
Unknown	6 (6.81)
T stage	
 T1	63 (71.59)
T2	17 (19.32)
T3	4 (4.55)
Unknown	4 (4.55)
Lymph nodes	
N1	1 (1.11)
N0/Nx	85 (96.59)
Unknown	2 (2.30)
Metastasis	
Yes	2 (2.28)
No	86 (97.72)
WHO/ISUP grade	
G1	33 (37.5)
G2	41 (46.59)
G3	13 (14.77)
G4	1 (1.14)
Median follow-up time [years]	7.0
Disease course	
Alive	60 (68.18)
Dead	28 (31.82)

Table I. Baseline characteristics of the tissue microarray (n = 88) patient cohort

 $\label{eq:ISUP-International Society of Urological Pathology, WHO-World Health Organization$

teristics of the TMA cohort are presented in Table I. The median follow-up was 7.0 years.

64 of 88 ccRCC tissues (72.7%) presented KIF11 cytoplasmic expression with the median value of 20 (interquartile range 0–200). The nuclear staining was positive in 32 of 88 ccRCC tissues (36.36%). Among controls, nuclear KIF11 expression was absent, but cytoplasmic expression was identified in all cases, with a median value of 230 (interquartile range 45–290). Cytoplasmic KIF11 expression in ccRCC tissues was lower compared to control tissues (p < 0.05) (Fig. 1A).

Cytoplasmic KIF11 expression positively correlated with tumour grade (p = 0.0013) and mortality (HR 2.17; 95% Cl: 0.99–4.73; p = 0.047) (Figs. 1B, 2A). Cox Proportional Hazard was statistically significant only for T1 tumours. HR estimates of 0.19 (95% Cl: 0.04–0.96; p = 0.045) for low KIF cytoplasmic expression and 0.42 (95% Cl: 0.15–1.16; p = 0.049) for high KIF cytoplasmic expression were calculated. KIF11 nuclear expression did not correlate with OS (p = 0.72) (Fig. 2B). KIF11 cytoplasmic or nuclear expression did not correlate with tumour stage.

Discussion

Surgical resection is the best therapeutic strategy for localized RCC [10]. However, around 30% of patients experience tumour recurrence following complete resection [11, 12]. Immunotherapy and/or targeted therapy represent a standard of care for stage IV and recurrent RCC. Despite relatively high response rates to these agents, most patients eventually succumb to cancer progression. Versus KIF11 has been shown to promote the epithelial-mesenchymal transition and activate many molecular mechanisms involved in cancer progression, including Wnt/βcatenin, PI3K/AKT/mTOR, and MAPK/ERK pathway [9, 13, 14]. Targeting KIF11 inhibits invasion, proliferation, and self-renewal in glioblastoma cell lines [15]. A similar effect was observed in breast cancer and prostate cancer cells [9, 16-20]. Filanesib, a potent KIF11 inhibitor, has recently demonstrated clinical efficacy in patients with multiple myeloma [21].

The metastatic competence of ccRCC is afforded by chromosome complexity, in particular 9p and 14q loss [22]. We found that high KIF11 cytoplasmic (but not nuclear) expression correlates with poor survival in patients with ccRCC. KIF11 within the cytoplasm contributes to centrosome separation and bipolar spindle formation and can provoke vital chromosome-level alterations. Hence, it could play a significant role in driving ccRCC evolution and metastatic spread. Then, targeting KIF11 would be an attractive complement to evolution-targeted therapy. Evolution-targeted therapy in ccRCC is a novel concept that relies on patient stratification according to the deterministic evolutionary trajectory of the tumour [23]. Currently there are 7 well described evolutionary trajectories in ccRCC according to the tumour's genomic characteristics, evolution mode, and clinical course [24]. While the evolutionary trajectory could be used as a biomarker for guiding the intervention, inhibition of KIF11 could further curb cancer evolution, making this approach more effective.

According to the cBioportal for Cancer Genomics, a database with genome sequencing and comparative genome hybridization, KIF11 overexpression is driven by epigenetic alterations in 99.61% of cases. The remaining causes include genetic amplifications



Fig. 1. A) Cytoplasmic KIF11 expression in clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) and adjacent normal tissue (control). B) KIF11 expression according to ccRCC grade *ccRCC – clear cell renal cell carcinoma*



Fig. 2. A) The survival curve of clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) patients according to cytoplasmic KIF11 expression. B) The survival curve of ccRCC patients according to nuclear KIF11 expression

and missense mutations. The epigenetic alterations are reversible and play a central role in renal carcinogenesis [25]. Hence, specifically targeting these alterations could restore a normal epigenetic pattern and potentially cure the disease. Currently, targeted epigenetic therapies are under investigation. Their combination with antiangiogenic or immune checkpoint treatments represents a particularly promising paradigm that could overcome frequent monotherapy resistance [26–29]. Epigenetic therapeutics are classified into agents that have a targeted effect, such as anti-miRNA oligonucleotides, and agents that have a more broad effect and lead to large-scale changes in gene expression, such as HDAC inhibitors (HDACi) [25]. The principal problem with the first group of agents is their difficult delivery to cancer cells [30]. The second group of agents, on the other hand, activate genes that are normally repressed, leading to adverse off-target effects that influence numerous processes in the body [31]. As a result, no epigenetic alteration can be both safely and precisely targeted, and therefore successful clinical translation of epigenetics in RCC remains to be seen.

To evaluate the association between KIF11 mRNA expression and the clinical course of ccRCC we accessed the TCGA database [32, 33]. In TCGA, patients were classified into 2 expression groups based on the KIF11 FPKM (number fragments per kilobase of exon per million reads) value. To choose the best FPKM cut-off for grouping the patients, significant differences in the OS of the groups were analysed, and the value yielding the lowest log-rank *p*-value (1.5e–8) was selected. KIF11 expression among 119 of 528 (22.54%) patients was higher than the established cut-off. The Kaplan-Meier survival estimators evaluated the prognosis of each group. The survival outcomes of the 2 groups were compared by log-rank tests. The five-year survival was reached by 69% of patients with low KIF11 expression and 44% of patients with high KIF11 expression. According to data from the TCGA database, elevated KIF11 mRNA expression is associated with poor prognosis in ccRCC (p < 0.05). These results are in accordance with our findings.

Our study cohort comprised mainly low-grade and low-stage cases. Therefore, further research incorporating advanced, unresectable tumours is needed to translate our results toward a future potential clinical intervention.

Conclusions

Elevated expression of KIF11 predicts poor clinical outcome in ccRCC patients. Downregulation of KIF11 may provide a new therapeutic strategy for ccRCC.

Acknowledgement

This research was funded by the National Centre for Research and Development, grant number POWR.03.02.00-00-I019/16.

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Key Statistics About Kidney Cancer. Available from: https:// www.cancer.org/content/dam/CRC/PDF/Public/8659.00.pdf.
- 2. Protzel C, Maruschke M, Hakenberg OW. Epidemiology, aetiology, and pathogenesis of renal cell carcinoma. Eur Urol 2012; 11: 52-59.
- 3. Gerlinger M, Rowan AJ, Horswell S, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 883-892.
- 4. Wojcik EJ, Buckley RS, Richard J, et al. Kinesin-5: crossbridging mechanism to targeted clinical therapy. Gene 2013; 531: 133-149.
- Imai T, Oue N, Nishioka M, et al. Overexpression of KIF11 in gastric cancer with intestinal mucin phenotype. Pathobiology 2016; 84: 16-24.
- 6. Lu M, Zhu H, Wang X, et al. The prognostic role of Eg5 expression in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Pathology 2016; 48: 214-218.
- Sun XD, Shi XJ, Sun XO, et al. Dimethylenastron suppresses human pancreatic cancer cell migration and invasion in vitro via allosteric inhibition of mitotic kinesin Eg5. Acta Pharmacol Sin 2011; 32: 1543-1548.
- 8. Piao XM, Byun YJ, Jeong P, et al. Kinesin FAMILY MEMBER 11 mRNA expression predicts prostate cancer aggressiveness. Clin Genitourin Cancer 2017; 15: 450-454.
- Pei YY, Wang L, Li GC, et al. Kinesin family member 11 enhances the self-renewal ability of breast cancer cells by participating in the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. J Breast Cancer 2019; 22: 522-532.
- 10. Kidney Cancer Surgery | American Cancer Society.

- 11. Jin Q, Dai Y, Wang Y, et al. High kinesin family member 11 expression predicts poor prognosis in patients with clear cell renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Pathol 2019; 72.
- 12. Cohen HT, McGovern FJ. Renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2005; 353: 2477-2490.
- Pohl SG, Brook N, Agostino M, et al. Wnt signaling in triplenegative breast cancer. Oncogenesis 2017; 6: e310.
- 14. Shi B, Bao J, Liu Y, Shi J. Death receptor 6 promotes ovarian cancer cell migration through KIF11. FEBS Open Bio 2018; 8: 1497-1507.
- 15. Venere M, Horbinski C, Crish JF, et al. The mitotic kinesin KIF11 is a driver of invasion, proliferation, and self-renewal in glioblastoma. Sci Transl Med 2015; 7: 304ra143.
- 16. Ye XS, Fan L, Van Horn RD, et al. A novel Eg5 inhibitor (LY2523355) causes mitotic arrest and apoptosis in cancer cells and shows potent antitumor activity in xenograft tumor models. Mol Cancer Ther 2015; 14: 2463-2472.
- 17. Zhou J, Chen WR, Yang LC, et al. KIF11 functions as an oncogene and is associated with poor outcomes from breast cancer. Cancer Res Treat 2019; 51: 1207-1221.
- Taglieri L, Rubinacci G, Giuffrida A, et al. The kinesin Eg5 inhibitor K858 induces apoptosis and reverses the malignant invasive phenotype in human glioblastoma cells. Invest New Drugs 2018; 36: 28-35.
- Truebenbach I, Zhang W, Wang Y, et al. Co-delivery of pretubulysin and siEG5 to EGFR overexpressing carcinoma cells. Int J Pharm 2019; 569: 118570.
- 20. Davis DA, Sarkar SH, Hussain M, et al. Increased therapeutic potential of an experimental anti-mitotic inhibitor SB715992 by genistein in PC-3 human prostate cancer cell line. BMC Cancer 2006; 6.
- Algarín EM, Hernández-García S, Garayoa M, Ocio EM. Filanesib for the treatment of multiple myeloma. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2020; 29: 5-14.
- 22. Turajlic S, Xu H, Litchfield K, et al. Tracking cancer evolution reveals constrained routes to metastases: TRACERx renal. Cell 2018; 73: 581-594.e12.
- 23. Kowalewski A, Zdrenka M, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Targeting the deterministic evolutionary trajectories of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12: 3300.
- 24. Turajlic S, Xu H, Litchfield K, et al. Deterministic evolutionary trajectories influence primary tumor growth: TRACERx renal. Cell 2018; 173: 595-610.e11.
- 25. Joosten SC, Smits KM, Aarts MJ, et al. Epigenetics in renal cell cancer: mechanisms and clinical applications. Nat Rev Urol 2018; 15: 430-451.
- 26. Pili R, Liu G, Chintala S, et al. Combination of the histone deacetylase inhibitor vorinostat with bevacizumab in patients with clear-cell renal cell carcinoma: a multicentre, single-arm phase I/II clinical trial. Br J Cancer 2017; 116: 874-883.
- 27. Zibelman M, Wong YN, Devarajan K, et al. Phase I study of the mTOR inhibitor ridaforolimus and the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat in advanced renal cell carcinoma and other solid tumors. Invest New Drugs 2015; 33: 1040.
- 28. Dasari A, Gore L, Messersmith WA, et al. A phase I study of sorafenib and vorinostat in patients with advanced solid tumors with expanded cohorts in renal cell carcinoma and nonsmall cell lung cancer. Invest New Drugs 2013; 31:115-125.
- Reu FJ, Soo IB, Cherkassky L, et al. Overcoming resistance to interferon-induced apoptosis of renal carcinoma and melanoma cells by DNA demethylation. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 3771-3779.

- 30. Garzon R, Marcucci G, Croce CM . Targeting microRNAs in cancer: rationale, strategies and challenges. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2010; 9: 775.
- 31. Jones PA, Issa JPJ, Baylin S. Targeting the cancer epigenome for therapy. Nat Rev Genet 2016; 17: 630-641.
- Expression of KIF11 in renal cancer The Human Protein Atlas. Available from: https://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG 00000129250-KIF1C/pathology/renal+cancer.
- 33. Uhlen M, Zhang C, Lee S, et al. A pathology atlas of the human cancer transcriptome. Science 2017; 357: eaan2507.

Address for correspondence

Adam Michał Kowalewski

Chair and Department of Clinical Pathomorphology Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun Curie Skłodowskiej 9 St. 85-094 Bydgoszcz, Poland Phone: 503 134 123 e-mail: kowalewskiresearch@gmail.com

6. Overview of the publications included in the dissertation.

6.1. Origination of the concept of targeted, anti-evolutionary cancer therapy.

Cancer treatments that target specific cells or pathways often stop working because cancerous cells adapt and change. A new approach to treating cancer may involve disrupting the evolution of cancer cells, rather than just targeting individual cells or pathways. This could potentially put an end to cancer as a major health concern.

Scientists have recently discovered different types of clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) based on the way the cancer cells change and evolve. These types can be grouped into seven distinct evolutionary subtypes or four groups, and they are related to how the cancer behaves and responds to treatment [9, 10]. These groups are distinguished by four features - variations in chromosomal complexity, intratumor heterogeneity (ITH), model of tumor evolution, and metastatic potential.

Group 1 consists of primary tumors with VHL alteration as the sole driver event. They evolve in a "linear" fashion and are characterized by low both weighted genome instability index (wGII) and ITH. This mode of evolution is associated with indolent growth and low metastatic potential. Group 2 includes tumors in which early PBRM1 mutation and subsequent SETD2 mutation or PI3K pathway mutation or acquisition of SCNAs result in a "branched" evolutionary pattern. These are heterogeneous neoplasms with oligometastatic potential and attenuated progression. Clonal acquisition of multiple driver mutations (VHL plus ≥2 BAP1, PBRM1, SETD2, or PTEN) or the parallel BAP1 mutation results in "punctuated" evolution. These tumors are characterized by high wGII but low ITH and belong to group 3. Punctuated evolution, driven mostly by high wGII, leads to rapid dissemination and is also observed among VHL wild-type tumors, which constitute the fourth group [10].

I described a concept of exploiting the aforementioned trajectories for guiding intervention and surveillance. In our article "Targeting the Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma" published in the *Cancers* magazine [11],

I proposed seven anti-evolution strategies, and estimated their effectiveness against each evolutionary trajectory. The presented patient stratification is to help predict future steps of malignant progression, thereby informing optimal and personalized clinical decisions. This article sets a new direction for research into targeted antievolutionary therapy. In this case, the targeted therapy is for a specific histological type of tumor evolving in a certain direction.

6.2. Identification of potential molecular targets for targeted, anti-evolutionary cancer therapy against clear cell renal cell carcinoma.

6.2.1 Introduction.

As previously described, targeting individual components of pathways that drive cancer progression is unlikely to be effective. From the evolutionary perspective, however, it is a reasonable option once these components directly affect the genomic instability. Genomic instability of cancer cells drives genetic diversity required for the natural selection of adaptive traits, but there is a threshold beyond which cells cannot replicate successfully [12]. Hence, it is tempting to alter (increase or decrease) the frequency of mutations within the cancer genome.

Modulation of genomic instability is one of the vital options to overcome the ccRCC's evolution [11]. In particular, I recommended decreasing genomic instability before the loss of 9p or 14q, which represents the acquisition of metastatic competence. This approach is exceptionally attractive in Group 1, characterized by low wGII. In contrast, Groups 3 and 4, due to high wGII and a punctuated evolution pattern, are expected to respond to increasing genomic instability. Modulating genomic instability in Group 2 could be unsuitable because of high wGII and branched mode of evolution.

Kidney cancer is characterized by a moderate level of genomic instability and the absence of mutations in canonical DNA damage response (DDR) genes, such as *RAD9*, *BRCA1*, or *TP53* [13, 14]. As a result, kidney cancer patients are commonly unresponsive to DNA-damaging therapies, such as chemo- or radiotherapy. For that reason, reducing genetic instability could be a more suitable approach. It can be achieved, among others, by the regulation of the transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) axis. TGF- β has been shown to inhibit DNA double-strand breaks (DSB) repair mechanisms to heighten the genetic diversity and adaptability of cancer cells [15]. In ccRCC cell cultures, TGF- β enhances proliferative capacity and promotes metastatic growth [16]. Early phase Ib clinical trial (NCT00356460) investigated the use of a monoclonal antibody against TGF- β fresolimumab in RCC patients and showed preliminary evidence of antitumor activity [17].

On the contrary, particular ccRCC driver genes do influence DNA damage response (DDR) and there is preclinical evidence to support the poly(ADP)-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibition in VHL- or BAP1-mutated ccRCC [12, 18, 19]. Moreover, cells harboring SETD2 mutation undergo synthetic lethal interaction with WEE1 blockade due to the depletion of nucleotide pools [20]. AZD1775, an experimental inhibitor of WEE1, is currently being evaluated for patients with SETD2-deficient tumors, including RCC (NCT03284385).

Based on the available data and *in silico* analysis, I selected two proteins, TRIP13 and KIF11, which could become targets for this strategy in ccRCC.

TRIP13 is a protein encoded by the *TRIP13* gene. TRIP13 plays a significant role in various cell cycle phases, including meiosis, G2/Prophase, and during the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC) activation. TRIP13 is required for the development of higher-order chromosome structures and contributes to synaptonemal complex formation. It also promotes early steps of the DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs) repair process [21].

Study on multiple myeloma cells revealed that overexpression of TRIP13 abrogates SAC. The underlying mechanism includes activation of the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway that induces proteasome-mediated degradation of MAD2, the key component of SAC [22]. Dysfunctional SAC contributes to chromosomal instability (CIN), aneuploidy, and eventually facilitates cancer progression [23-25]. Biallelic loss-of-function mutations in TRIP13 have been shown to predispose to Wilms tumor, a kidney cancer that primarily affects children [26]. The authors of this report indicate a substantial impairment of SAC, which eventually leads to a high rate of chromosome missegregation in these patients. This study supports the existence of a close relationship between TRIP13 and SAC, which when disturbed, increases cancer risk or drives its progression.

In damaged cells, TRIP13 functions to favor non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) over homologous recombination (HR). Both are the major pathways for DNA DSBs repair. While HR results in accurate repair, NHEJ is an intrinsically error-prone pathway and may lead to CIN and eventually carcinogenesis [27].

KIF11, as a motor protein encoded by the *KIF11* gene, assists in spindle dynamics. Among its main functions are chromosome positioning, centrosome separation, and establishing a bipolar spindle during mitosis [28, 29]. KIF11 has been shown to promote CIN and activate many molecular mechanisms involved in cancer progression, including Wnt/β-catenin, PI3K/AKT/mTOR, and MAPK/ERK pathways [30-33].

Targeting KIF11 inhibits invasion, proliferation, and self-renewal in glioblastoma cell lines [34]. A similar effect was observed in breast cancer and prostate cancer cells [30, 35-38]. Filanesib, a potent KIF11 inhibitor, has recently demonstrated clinical efficacy in patients with multiple myeloma [39].

I explored the clinical association of TRIP13 and KIF11 with ccRCC histology and oncologic outcomes using the tissue microarray (TMA) ccRCC cohorts.

6.2.2. Materials and methods

Tissue microarray

Tissue microarray (TMA) slides were obtained from a commercial supplier (US Biomax, Rockville, MD; TMA catalog number HKid-CRC180Sur-01).

The first TMA contained specimens from 92 and the second from 90 patients followed up for 7 years. Each slide contained samples from the tumor and matched normal adjacent tissue (1 core/case).

Retrievable patient data included age, pathology diagnosis, TNM, grade, stage and overall survival. The quality of TMAs was additionally approved by our pathologist. The study followed the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The tissues were collected under the highest ethical standards and HIPPA approved protocols with the donor being informed completely and with their consent. Since the tissues were commercially purchased, the study has been exempted from requiring ethical approval.

Immunohistochemistry

The TMA slides were processed at the Department of Clinical Pathology. The primary rabbit polyclonal anti-TRIP13 (HPA005727; Sigma-Aldrich, Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) and anti-KIF11 (HPA010568; Sigma-Aldrich, Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) were applied to estimate the expression of TRIP13 and KIF11 proteins, respectively.

The protocol has been standardized using a series of positive and negative control reactions. The positive control reaction was performed on a tissue model selected according to reference sources (The Human Protein Atlas: http://www.proteinatlas.org) and the antibody data-sheet. TRIP13- and KIF11-positive control reactions performed on pancreatic cancer tissue presented cytoplasmic and nuclear expression.

All negative control reactions were performed on additionally analyzed tissue sections by substituting the primary antibody with a solution of 1% BSA (bovine serum albumin) diluted in PBS (phosphate buffered saline). Immunohistochemical staining was performed using primary rabbit polyclonal antibodies (1:200) and visualization system EnVisionFlex+ Anti-Mouse/Rabbit HRP-Labeled Polymer (Dako, Agilent Technologies) on an Autostainer Link48 platform. Finally, tissue sections were dehydrated in ethanol of increasing concentration (from 80% to 98%), then cleared in a series of xylenes (from I to IV) and cover-slipped in a medium (Dako, Agilent Technologies, USA).

IHC analysis and scoring

Initially, two experienced pathologists blinded to the clinical data evaluated the immunostained slides using the light microscope ELIPSE E800 (Nikon Instruments Europe, Amsterdam, Netherlands) at 20× and 40× original objective magnification. IHC revealed cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins expression.

The cytoplasmic staining intensity of cells and percentage of cells at each staining intensity level were determined for each fixed core in the TMA. Staining intensity was graded as 0 (negative), 1+ (weak), 2+ (moderate), and 3+ (strong). The H-score was assigned using the following formula: $[1 \times (\% \text{ cells } 1+) + 2 \times (\% \text{ cells } 2+) + 3 \times (\% \text{ cells } 3+)]$, obtaining a value from 0 to 300.

Statistical analysis

All the statistical analyses were performed using Statistica version 10 (StatSoft) and Microsoft Excel 2019. The comparative studies were analyzed statistically using the nonparametric chi-square test. The p value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

6.2.3. Results

TRIP13 expression

IHC was performed on 87 pairs of ccRCC and corresponding normal tissues. Five cores of corresponding tissues were lost during the IHC staining procedure.

Cytoplasmic TRIP13 staining was observed in 77 (88.51%) of 87 ccRCC tissues and the median expression was 100 (interquartile range 0-215). Among adjacent controls, 70 (85.37%) of 82 cores were positive and the median expression was 115 (interquartile range 70-200). Cytoplasmic expressions of TRIP13 in ccRCC tissues were lower than those in adjacent controls (P < 0.05). I dichotomized the cytoplasmic expressions of TRIP13 to low expression and high expression using the tool *Cutoff Finder*. The cutoff has been set at 105 [40]. Mean TRIP13 expression in TRIP13-rich tumors was significantly higher comparing to adjacent normal tissues (P < 0.05). Similarly, adjacent normal tissues were characterized by elevated TRIP13 expression when compared to TRIP13-depleted tumors (P < 0.05).

Univariate analysis revealed that patients with high cytoplasmic TRIP13 protein expression had significantly shorter overall survival (OS) comparing to those with low expression (P < 0.05, HR = 2.88 [1.35-6.15]). TRIP13 expression did not significantly correlate with stage nor tumor grade (P > 0.05).

KIF11 expression

The study included 88 pairs of ccRCC and corresponding non-cancerous tissue. During the IHC staining procedure, 5 cores of corresponding tissue and 2 cores of ccRCC were lost.

64 of 88 ccRCC tissues (72.7%) presented KIF11 cytoplasmic expression with the median value of 20 (interquartile range 0–200). Among controls, cytoplasmic expression was identified in all cases, with a median value of 230 (interquartile range 45–290). Cytoplasmic KIF11 expression in ccRCC tissues was lower compared to control tissues (p < 0.05). Cytoplasmic KIF11 expression positively correlated with tumor grade

(p = 0.0013) and mortality (HR 2.17; 95% Cl: 0.99–4.73; p = 0.047). Cox Proportional Hazard was statistically significant only for T1 tumors. HR estimates of 0.19 (95% Cl: 0.04–0.96; p = 0.045) for low KIF cytoplasmic expression and 0.42 (95% Cl: 0.15–1.16; p = 0.049) for high KIF cytoplasmic expression were calculated. KIF11 cytoplasmic expression did not correlate with tumor stage.

6.2.4. Discussion

High levels of two proteins, TRIP13 and KIF11, in the cells of patients with ccRCC are linked to worse survival outcomes. These proteins have the ability to cause serious changes to chromosomes, which suggests they may play a big role in the progression and spread of ccRCC. Therefore, targeting these proteins in addition to other treatments that aim to disrupt cancer evolution may be a promising approach for treating ccRCC.

Evolution-targeted therapy in ccRCC is a novel concept that relies on patient stratification according to the deterministic evolutionary trajectory of the tumor [11].

Currently there are 7 well described evolutionary trajectories in ccRCC according to the tumor's genomic characteristics, evolution mode, and clinical course [10]. While the evolutionary trajectory could be used as a biomarker for guiding the intervention, modulation of TRIP13 or KIF11 expression could further curb ccRCC's evolution.

The cBioportal for Cancer Genomics, a database of genomic data, shows that TRIP13 and KIF11 overexpression in ccRCC is mostly caused by changes to the epigenome, which can be reversed. These changes play a major role in the development of renal cancer. The remaining causes of overexpression include genetic amplifications and mutations [41]. Therefore, if we are able to target these epigenetic changes, it could lead to the reversal of the cancer. Researchers are currently looking into therapies that specifically target these changes. One promising approach is to use these therapies in combination with other treatments such as antiangiogenic or immune checkpoint inhibitors, as this can help overcome resistance to using a single therapy alone [42, 43-45].

Epigenetic therapeutics are classified into agents that have a targeted effect, such as anti-miRNA oligonucleotides, and agents that have a more broad effect and lead to large-scale changes in gene expression, such as histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACi) [41]. The principal problem with the first group of agents is their difficult delivery to cancer cells [46]. The second group of agents, however, can cause negative side effects because they turn on genes that are typically turned off. This can affect many processes in the body and may cause unintended consequences [47]. Therefore, it is currently difficult to target epigenetic changes in RCC in a safe and precise manner. As a result, it is yet to be determined if the use of epigenetics in RCC will be successful in a clinical setting.

I analyzed data from the TCGA database to see if the levels of TRIP13 and KIF11 mRNA were related to the progression of ccRCC in patients. The data consisted of information from 528 patients diagnosed with ccRCC, with a median follow-up of 3.28 years [48]. Using the FPKM values for TRIP13 and KIF11, patients were divided into two groups based on the expression levels. The group with higher expression levels had worse survival outcomes, with 5-year survival rates of 39% and 44% for patients with high TRIP13 and KIF11 expression respectively, compared to 70% and 69% for those with low expression. These results support our findings that high expression of TRIP13 and KIF11 mRNA is linked to worse outcomes in ccRCC patients. Our study cohort comprised mainly low-grade and low-stage cases. Therefore, further research incorporating advanced, unresectable tumors is needed to translate our results toward a future potential clinical intervention.

6.2.5. Conclusions.

I developed a concept of exploiting cancers' evolutionary trajectories for guiding intervention and surveillance. This means that by understanding the way cancer cells evolve, we can better predict how the disease will progress and make more informed treatment decisions.

I proposed seven anti-evolution strategies to disrupt the way in which ccRCC cells evolve in order to slow or stop the progression of the disease. Moreover, I estimated the effectiveness of these strategies against each evolutionary trajectory.

Thus, I set a new direction for research into targeted anti-evolutionary therapy. By focusing on specific histological type of cancer and the direction in which they evolve, we can develop more personalized and effective treatments. This approach has the potential to improve outcomes for all cancer patients.

I found out that individuals with high amounts of TRIP13 protein in their ccRCC cells tend to have worse prognosis in comparison to those with lower levels.

Similarly, high levels of KIF11 in ccRCC cells have been correlated with poor clinical outcomes.

Given that TRIP13 and KIF11 have been established as factors that contribute to CIN, the results of my research prompt a hypothesis that this mechanism may also play a role in the development of ccRCC.

Our studies focused on patients with early-stage and less aggressive forms of ccRCC. More research is needed to confirm these findings in patients with more advanced, inoperable tumors in order to see if these results can be applied in a clinical setting.

The presented results could potentially serve as a starting point for translational research, where the modulation of TRIP13 and KIF11 expressions would provide new therapeutic strategies for ccRCC.

7. References.

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2021;71(3):209-249. doi:10.3322/CAAC.21660
- American Cancer Society. About Kidney Cancer Overview and Types.; 2018. Accessed October 14, 2018. https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/CRC/PDF/Public/8659.00.pdf
- Cohen HT, McGovern FJ. Renal-Cell Carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(23):2477-2490. doi:10.1056/NEJMra043172
- Lam JS, Leppert JT, Belldegrun AS, Figlin RA. Novel approaches in the therapy of metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *World J Urol.* 2005;23(3):202-212. doi:10.1007/s00345-004-0466-0
- Rajandram R, Bennett NC, Morais C, Johnson DW, Gobe GC. Renal cell carcinoma: Resistance to therapy, role of apoptosis, and the prognostic and therapeutic target potential of TRAF proteins. *Med Hypotheses*. 2012;78:330-336. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2011.11.014
- 6. World Health Organization. *Urinary and Male Genital Tumours*. 5th ed.; 2022.
- Motzer RJ, Tannir NM, McDermott DF, et al. Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab versus
 Sunitinib in Advanced Renal-Cell Carcinoma. *N Engl J Med*. 2018;378(14):1277-1290.
 doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1712126
- Hsieh JJ, Purdue MP, Signoretti S, et al. Renal cell carcinoma. *Nat Rev Dis Prim*.
 2017;3(1):17009. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2017.9
- Mitchell TJ, Turajlic S, Rowan A, et al. Timing the Landmark Events in the Evolution of Clear Cell Renal Cell Cancer: TRACERx Renal. *Cell*. 2018;173(3):611-623.e17. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.02.020
- 10. Turajlic S, Xu H, Litchfield K, et al. Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories Influence

Primary Tumor Growth: TRACERx Renal. *Cell*. 2018;173(3):595-610.e11. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.043

- Kowalewski A, Zdrenka M, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Targeting the Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2020;12(11):3300. doi:10.3390/cancers12113300
- 12. Andor N, Maley CC, Ji HP. Genomic instability in cancer: Teetering on the limit of tolerance. *Cancer Res.* 2017;77(9):2179-2185. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1553
- Creighton CJ, Morgan M, Gunaratne PH, et al. Comprehensive molecular characterization of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Nature*. 2013;499(7456):43-49. doi:10.1038/nature12222
- Pan D, Kobayashi A, Jiang P, et al. A major chromatin regulator determines resistance of tumor cells to T cell-mediated killing. *Science (80-)*. 2018;359(6377):770-775. doi:10.1126/science.aao1710
- Pal D, Pertot A, Shirole NH, et al. TGF-β reduces DNA ds-Break repair mechanisms to heighten genetic diversity and adaptability of CD44+/CD24- cancer cells. *Elife*. 2017;6. doi:10.7554/eLife.21615
- Sitaram RT, Mallikarjuna P, Landström M, Ljungberg B. Transforming growth factor-β promotes aggressiveness and invasion of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget*. 2016;7(24):35917-35931. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.9177
- Morris JC, Tan AR, Olencki TE, et al. Phase I study of GC1008 (Fresolimumab): A human anti-transforming growth factor-beta (TGFβ) monoclonal antibody in patients with advanced malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(3). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090353
- Okazaki A, Gameiro PA, Christodoulou D, et al. Glutaminase and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors suppress pyrimidine synthesis and VHL-deficient renal cancers. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(5):1631-1645. doi:10.1172/JCI87800
- 19. Yu H, Pak H, Hammond-Martel I, et al. Tumor suppressor and deubiquitinase BAP1 promotes DNA double-strand break repair. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2014;111(1):285-

290. doi:10.1073/pnas.1309085110

- Pfister SX, Markkanen E, Jiang Y, et al. Inhibiting WEE1 Selectively Kills Histone H3K36me3-Deficient Cancers by dNTP Starvation. *Cancer Cell*. 2015;28(5):557-568. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2015.09.015
- TRIP13 Pachytene checkpoint protein 2 homolog Homo sapiens (Human) |
 UniProtKB | UniProt. Accessed January 18, 2023.
 https://www.uniprot.org/uniprotkb/Q15645/entry
- Tao Y, Yang G, Yang H, et al. TRIP13 impairs mitotic checkpoint surveillance and is associated with poor prognosis in multiple myeloma. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(16):26718-26731. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.14957
- Ma HT, Poon RYC. TRIP13 Regulates Both the Activation and Inactivation of the Spindle-Assembly Checkpoint. *Cell Rep.* 2016;14(5):1086-1099. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.01.001
- 24. Kops GJPL, Weaver BAA, Cleveland DW. On the road to cancer: aneuploidy and the mitotic checkpoint. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2005;5(10):773-785. doi:10.1038/nrc1714
- Fang X, Zhang P. Aneuploidy and tumorigenesis. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*. 2011;22(6):595-601. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.03.002
- 26. Yost S, Wolf B de, Hanks S, et al. Biallelic TRIP13 mutations predispose to Wilms tumor and chromosome missegregation. *Nat Genet*. 2017;49(7):1148. doi:10.1038/NG.3883
- Banerjee R, Russo N, Liu M, et al. TRIP13 promotes error-prone nonhomologous end joining and induces chemoresistance in head and neck cancer. *Nat Commun*. 2014;5(1):4527. doi:10.1038/ncomms5527
- 28. Imai T, Oue N, Nishioka M, et al. Overexpression of KIF11 in gastric cancer with intestinal mucin phenotype. *Pathobiology*. 2016;84(1):16-24. doi:10.1159/000447303
- Krzysiak TC, Grabe M, Gilbert SP. Getting in Sync with Dimeric Eg5: INITIATION AND REGULATION OF THE PROCESSIVE RUN. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(4):2078. doi:10.1074/JBC.M708354200

- Pei YY, Wang L, Li GC, Ran J, Wan XH, Wei FX. Kinesin family member 11 enhances the self-renewal ability of breast cancer cells by participating in the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. J Breast Cancer. 2019;22(4):522-532. doi:10.4048/jbc.2019.22.e51
- 31. Pohl SG, Brook N, Agostino M, Arfuso F, Kumar AP, Dharmarajan A. Wnt signaling in triple-negative breast cancer. *Oncogenesis*. 2017;6(4). doi:10.1038/oncsis.2017.14
- 32. Shi B, Bao J, Liu Y, Shi J. Death receptor 6 promotes ovarian cancer cell migration through KIF11. *FEBS Open Bio*. 2018;8(9):1497-1507. doi:10.1002/2211-5463.12492
- Dale KL, Armond JW, Hynds RE, Vladimirou E. Modest increase of KIF11 expression exposes fragilities in the mitotic spindle, causing chromosomal instability. *J Cell Sci*. 2022;135(17). doi:10.1242/JCS.260031
- Venere M, Horbinski C, Crish JF, et al. The mitotic kinesin KIF11 is a driver of invasion, proliferation, and self-renewal in glioblastoma. *Sci Transl Med*. 2015;7(304):304ra143. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aac6762
- 35. Ye XS, Fan L, Van Horn RD, et al. A novel Eg5 inhibitor (LY2523355) causes mitotic arrest and apoptosis in cancer cells and shows potent antitumor activity in xenograft tumor models. *Mol Cancer Ther*. 2015;14(11):2463-2472. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-15-0241
- Zhou J, Chen WR, Yang LC, et al. KIF11 functions as an oncogene and is associated with poor outcomes from breast cancer. *Cancer Res Treat*. 2019;51(3):1207-1221. doi:10.4143/crt.2018.460
- Truebenbach I, Zhang W, Wang Y, et al. Co-delivery of pretubulysin and siEG5 to EGFR overexpressing carcinoma cells. *Int J Pharm*. 2019;569:118570.
 doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118570
- Davis DA, Sarkar SH, Hussain M, Li Y, Sarkar FH. Increased therapeutic potential of an experimental anti-mitotic inhibitor SB715992 by genistein in PC-3 human prostate cancer cell line. Published online 2006. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-6-22
- 39. Algarín EM, Hernández-García S, Garayoa M, Ocio EM. Filanesib for the treatment of multiple myeloma. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs*. 2020;29(1):5-14.

doi:10.1080/13543784.2020.1703179

- Budczies J, Klauschen F, Sinn B V, et al. Cutoff Finder: a comprehensive and straightforward Web application enabling rapid biomarker cutoff optimization. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(12):e51862. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051862
- Joosten SC, Smits KM, Aarts MJ, et al. Epigenetics in renal cell cancer: Mechanisms and clinical applications. *Nat Rev Urol*. 2018;15(7):430-451. doi:10.1038/s41585-018-0023-z
- Pili R, Liu G, Chintala S, et al. Combination of the histone deacetylase inhibitor vorinostat with bevacizumab in patients with clear-cell renal cell carcinoma: a multicentre, single-arm phase I/II clinical trial. *Br J Cancer*. 2017;116(7):874-883. doi:10.1038/bjc.2017.33
- 43. Dasari A, Gore L, Messersmith WA, et al. A phase I study of sorafenib and vorinostat in patients with advanced solid tumors with expanded cohorts in renal cell carcinoma and non-small cell lung cancer. *Investig New Drugs 2012 311*. 2012;31(1):115-125. doi:10.1007/S10637-012-9812-Z
- Zibelman M, Wong YN, Devarajan K, et al. Phase I study of the mTOR inhibitor ridaforolimus and the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat in advanced renal cell carcinoma and other solid tumors. *Invest New Drugs*. 2015;33(5):1040. doi:10.1007/S10637-015-0261-3
- 45. Reu FJ, Soo IB, Cherkassky L, et al. Overcoming resistance to interferon-induced apoptosis of renal carcinoma and melanoma cells by DNA demethylation. *J Clin Oncol*. 2006;24(23):3771-3779. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.03.4074
- 46. Garzon R, Marcucci G, Croce CM. Targeting MicroRNAs in Cancer: Rationale, Strategies and Challenges. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2010;9(10):775. doi:10.1038/NRD3179
- 47. Jones PA, Issa JPJ, Baylin S. Targeting the cancer epigenome for therapy. *Nat Rev Genet 2016 1710*. 2016;17(10):630-641. doi:10.1038/nrg.2016.93
- 48. Uhlen M, Zhang C, Lee S, et al. A pathology atlas of the human cancer transcriptome.
 Science. 2017;357(6352):eaan2507. doi:10.1126/science.aan2507

8. Co-authors' statements.

Bydgoszcz, 18.01.2023

Adam Kowalewski, M.D. Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Zdrenka M, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Targeting the Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Cancers.* 2020; 12(11):3300. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12113300

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- conceiving of the presented idea
- devising the project
- interpretation of the results
- taking the lead in writing the manuscript

Alam Vamlande

Adam Kowalewski, M.D. Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Jaworski D, Antosik P, et al. TRIP13 predicts poor prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Am J Cancer Res. 2020;10(9):2909-2918. Published 2020 Sep 1.

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- conceiving of the presented idea
- devising the project
- planning the experiments
- carrying out part of the experiments
- performing part of the analytic calculations
- interpretation of the results
- taking the lead in writing the manuscript

John Venleed

Bydgoszcz, 18.01.2023

Adam Kowalewski, M.D. Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski AM, Jaworski D, Antosik P, et al. Overexpression of KIF11 is a poor prognostic factor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Polish Journal of Pathology. 2022;73(2):82-87. doi:10.5114/pjp.2022.118137.

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- conceiving of the presented idea
- devising the project
- planning the experiments
- carrying out part of the experiments
- performing part of the analytic calculations
- interpretation of the results
- taking the lead in writing the manuscript

Alem Vourlier &

Bydgoszcz, 18.01.2023

Dariusz Grzanka, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Zdrenka M, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Targeting the Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Cancers*. 2020; 12(11):3300. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12113300

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- supervising data quality
- providing critical feedback

M

Łukasz Szylberg, M.D., Ph.D.
Department of Tumor Pathology and Pathomorphology,
Oncology Centre-Prof. Franciszek Łukaszczyk Memorial Hospital,
85-796 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Zdrenka M, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Targeting the Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Cancers*. 2020; 12(11):3300. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12113300

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- supervising data quality
- providing critical feedback

5 May

Marek Zdrenka, M.D. Department of Tumor Pathology and Pathomorphology, Oncology Centre-Prof. Franciszek Łukaszczyk Memorial Hospital, 85-796 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Zdrenka M, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Targeting the Deterministic Evolutionary Trajectories of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Cancers*. 2020; 12(11):3300. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12113300

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- data collection
- supervising data quality

Zollen

Dariusz Grzanka, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Jaworski D, Antosik P, Smolińska M, Ligmanowska J, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. TRIP13 predicts poor prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Am J Cancer Res. 2020;10(9):2909-2918. Published 2020 Sep 1.

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- supervising data quality
- providing critical feedback
- overall directing and planning

Jan

Łukasz Szylberg, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Tumor Pathology and Pathomorphology, Oncology Centre-Prof. Franciszek Łukaszczyk Memorial Hospital, 85-796 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Jaworski D, Antosik P, Smolińska M, Ligmanowska J, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. TRIP13 predicts poor prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Am J Cancer Res. 2020;10(9):2909-2918. Published 2020 Sep 1.

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- supervising data quality
- performing part of the analytic calculations
- providing critical feedback

Symp

Bydgoszcz, 18.01.2023

Paulina Antosik, Ph.D. Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Jaworski D, Antosik P, Smolińska M, Ligmanowska J, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. TRIP13 predicts poor prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Am J Cancer Res. 2020;10(9):2909-2918. Published 2020 Sep 1.

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- supervising data quality
- carrying out part of the experiment

Buline Antosh

Paulina Antosik, Ph.D. Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Jaworski D, Antosik P, Smolińska M, Ligmanowska J, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Overexpression of KIF11 is a poor prognostic factor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Polish Journal of Pathology. 2022;73(2):82-87. doi:10.5114/pjp.2022.118137.

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- supervising data quality
- carrying out part of the experiment

Pouline Antoil

Bydgoszcz, 18.01.2023

Dariusz Grzanka, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Clinical Pathomorphology, Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, 85-067 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Jaworski D, Antosik P, Smolińska M, Ligmanowska J, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Overexpression of KIF11 is a poor prognostic factor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Polish Journal of Pathology. 2022;73(2):82-87. doi:10.5114/pjp.2022.118137.

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- supervising data quality
- providing critical feedback
- overall directing and planning

mah

Łukasz Szylberg, M.D., Ph.D.
Department of Tumor Pathology and Pathomorphology,
Oncology Centre-Prof. Franciszek Łukaszczyk Memorial Hospital,
85-796 Bydgoszcz, Poland

As a coauthor of the following publication:

Kowalewski A, Jaworski D, Antosik P, Smolińska M, Ligmanowska J, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł. Overexpression of KIF11 is a poor prognostic factor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Polish Journal of Pathology. 2022;73(2):82-87. doi:10.5114/pjp.2022.118137.

I declare that my substantive contribution to creation of this work is:

- supervising data quality
- performing part of the analytic calculations
- providing critical feedback

Sylley